CF Industries Holdings, Inc. Form 10-Q August 04, 2008

Use these links to rapidly review the document <u>CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC. TABLE OF CONTENTS</u>

Table of Contents

# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

## **FORM 10-Q**

(Mark one)

ý QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2008

OR

o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 For the transition period from to

Commission file number: 001-32597

## **CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.**

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

**Delaware** (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

4 Parkway North, Suite 400 Deerfield, Illinois **20-2697511** (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

60015

(Zip Code)

(Address of principal executive offices)

(847) 405-2400

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes  $\circ$  No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

## Edgar Filing: CF Industries Holdings, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Large accelerated filer ý	Accelerated filer o	Non-accelerated filer o	Smaller reporting company o		
		(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)			
Indicate by check	mark whether the reg	istrant is a shell company	(as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).	Yes o	No ý

56,491,777 shares of the registrant's common stock, \$0.01 par value per share, were outstanding at June 30, 2008.

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

## PART I. Financial Information

	Item 1.	Financial Statements	
		Consolidated Statements of Operations	1
		Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income	2
		Consolidated Balance Sheets	3
		Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows	4
		Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements	5
	Item	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and	
	2.	Results of Operations	23
	Item	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	
	3.		44
	_		
	Item	Controls and Procedures	16
	4.		46
<b>ДАДТ II</b>	Other	Information	
<u>fari 11</u> .	Other	<u>monation</u>	
	Item	Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders	
	4.	<u></u>	47
	Item	<u>Exhibits</u>	
	6.		47

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

## PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION

## ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited)

	Three months ended June 30,			Six mont June			
		2008	2007		2008		2007
		(in milli	ons, except	per	its)		
Net sales	\$1	1,161.0	\$848.9		1,828.3		,321.3
Cost of sales		691.1	671.3	]	1,087.2	]	,038.6
Gross margin		469.9	177.6		741.1		282.7
Selling, general and administrative		18.1	17.5		36.3		31.2
Other operating net		(0.3)	0.7		1.1		2.0
Operating earnings		452.1	159.4		703.7		249.5
Interest expense		0.4	0.3		0.8		0.8
Interest income		(6.6)	(5.0)		(15.1)		(8.9)
Minority interest		19.1	19.6		37.6		26.6
Other non-operating net		(2.1)	(0.4)		(4.8)		(0.9)
Earnings before income taxes and equity in earnings of							
unconsolidated affiliates		441.3	144.9		685.2		231.9
Income tax provision		159.9	51.3		246.7		81.1
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates net of taxes		7.2			8.9		
Net earnings	\$	288.6	\$ 93.6	\$	447.4	\$	150.8
Net earnings per share:							
Basic	\$	5.13	\$ 1.69	\$	7.96	\$	2.73
Diluted	\$	5.02	\$ 1.65	\$	7.79	\$	2.67
Weighted average common shares outstanding:							
Basic		56.2	55.4		56.2		55.3
Diluted		57.5	56.6		57.5		56.4
Dividends declared per common share	\$	0.10	\$ 0.02	\$	0.20	\$	0.04

See Accompanying Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Unaudited)

	Three months ended June 30,					ths ended ne 30,		
	2008 200'		2007	2008			2007	
				(in mi	llion	s)		
Net earnings	\$	288.6	\$	93.6	\$	447.4	\$	150.8
Other comprehensive income (loss):								
Foreign currency translation adjustment no tax effect		0.1		1.8		(0.7)		2.0
Defined benefit plans net of taxes		0.4		0.2		0.8		0.6
Unrealized gain (loss) on securities net of taxes		(1.2)		0.2		(7.2)		0.1
		(0.7)		2.2		(7.1)		2.7
Comprehensive income	\$	287.9	\$	95.8	\$	440.3	\$	153.5

See Accompanying Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

## CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

	J	naudited) June 30, 2008 (in millions, a		ember 31, 2007 ot share
		per shar	e amo	unts)
Assets		•		,
Current assets:				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	805.8	\$	366.5
Short-term investments		238.7		494.5
Accounts receivable		175.3		148.7
Inventories		368.8		231.7
Assets held for sale		0.6		6.7
Other		181.6		31.0
Total current assets		1,770.8		1,279.1
Property, plant and equipment net		649.3		623.6
Goodwill		0.9		0.9
Asset retirement obligation escrow account		28.5		21.9
Investments in and advances to unconsolidated affiliates		54.3		41.6
Investments in auction rate securities		221.1		
Other assets		42.4		45.4
Total assets	\$	2,767.3	\$	2,012.5
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity				
Current liabilities:				
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	\$	279.4	\$	210.4
Income taxes payable		102.8		2.6
Customer advances		413.4		305.8
Deferred income taxes		87.2		30.7
Distributions payable to minority interest		28.1		57.6
Other		3.2		22.2
Total current liabilities		914.1		629.3
Notes payable		4.8		4.9
Deferred income taxes		12.2		32.1
Other noncurrent liabilities		147.7		141.9
Contingencies (Note 17)				
Minority interest		53.8		17.3
Stockholders' equity:				
Preferred stock \$0.01 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized				
Common stock \$0.01 par value, 500,000,000 shares authorized,				
2008 56,491,777 and 2007 56,245,418 shares issued and outstanding		0.6		0.6
Paid-in capital		809.5		790.8
Retained earnings		852.9		416.8
Accumulated other comprehensive loss		(28.3)		(21.2)
Total stockholders' equity		1,634.7		1,187.0
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$	2,767.3	\$	2,012.5

See Accompanying Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)

	Six montl June	
	2008	2007
	(in mil	lions)
Operating Activities:	* <i>• • • = •</i>	<b>*</b> 1 <b>*</b> 0.0
Net earnings	\$ 447.4	\$ 150.8
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash		
provided by operating activities:	27.6	26.6
Minority interest	37.6 51.4	26.6 40.5
Depreciation, depletion and amortization Deferred income taxes	31.4	12.3
Stock compensation expense	4.5	4.1
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation	(10.2)	(3.4)
Unrealized gain on derivatives	(152.8)	(3.4)
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates net of taxes	(132.8)	(2.2)
Changes in:	(0.))	
Accounts receivable	(28.2)	(36.9)
Margin deposits	(3.4)	4.7
Inventories	(137.4)	(2.9)
Prepaid product and expenses	(8.1)	(0.5)
Accrued income taxes	111.3	40.5
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	70.5	(0.6)
Product exchanges net	(4.9)	0.8
Customer advances net	107.6	65.0
Other net	0.4	3.4
Net cash provided by operating activities	516.5	302.2
Investing Activities:		
Additions to property, plant and equipment	(72.8)	(39.5)
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment	2.5	0.1
Purchases of investment securities	(354.7)	(480.6)
Sales and maturities of investment securities	378.6	274.7
Deposit to asset retirement obligation escrow account	(6.2)	(9.4)
Other net	1.2	1.2
Net cash used in investing activities	(51.4)	(253.5)
Financing Activities:		
Dividends paid on common stock	(11.3)	(2.2)
Distributions to minority interest	(28.4)	(30.0)
Issuances of common stock under employee stock plans	4.0	(30.0)
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation	10.2	3.4
	10.2	011
Net cash used in financing activities	(25.5)	(20.8)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents	(0.3)	6.3
Increase in cash and cash equivalents	439.3	34.2
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	366.5	25.4
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period		

\$ 805.8 \$ 59.6

See Accompanying Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

#### NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 1. Background and Basis of Presentation

All references to "CF Holdings," "the Company," "we," "us" and "our" refer to CF Industries Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries, including CF Industries, Inc. We are one of the largest manufacturers and distributors of nitrogen and phosphate fertilizer products in North America. Our operations are organized into two business segments: the nitrogen fertilizer business and the phosphate fertilizer business. Our principal products in the nitrogen fertilizer business are ammonia, urea and urea ammonium nitrate solution, or UAN. Our principal products in the phosphate fertilizer business are diammonium phosphate, or DAP, and monoammonium phosphate, or MAP. Our core market and distribution facilities are concentrated in the midwestern U.S. grain-producing states. Our principal customers are cooperatives and independent fertilizer distributors.

The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2007, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States for interim financial reporting. In the opinion of management, these statements reflect all adjustments, consisting only of normal and recurring adjustments that are necessary for the fair representation of the information for the periods presented. The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements included herein have been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations. These statements should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and related disclosures in our Form 10-K filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on February 27, 2008. Operating results for any period presented apply to that period only and are not necessarily indicative of results for any future period.

The preparation of the unaudited interim financial statements requires management to make use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses and certain financial statement disclosures. Significant estimates in these consolidated financial statements include net realizable value of inventories, the ultimate settlement costs of asset retirement obligations, the cost of sales incentives, useful lives of property and identifiable intangible assets, the evaluation of impairments of property, identifiable intangible assets and goodwill, income tax and valuation reserves, allowances for doubtful accounts receivable, assumptions used in the determination of the funded status and annual expense of pension and postretirement employee benefit plans and the volatility and expected lives for stock compensation instruments granted to employees. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

#### 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

For a complete discussion of the Company's significant accounting policies, refer to our 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K as of and for the year ended December 31, 2007, filed with the SEC on February 27, 2008.

#### 3. New Accounting Standards

Following are summaries of accounting pronouncements that were either recently adopted or may become applicable to our consolidated financial statements.

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

#### Recently adopted pronouncements

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 157 *Fair Value Measurements* and Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Staff Position (FSP) No. 157-2 *Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157*. SFAS No. 157 does not require any new fair value measurements, but does define fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. FSP No. 157-2 delays for one year the effective date of SFAS No. 157 for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. The deferral is intended to allow the FASB and constituents additional time to consider the effect of various implementation issues that have arisen, or that may arise, from the application of SFAS No. 157. Examples of items for which the deferral applies include asset retirement obligations, certain long-lived assets for an impairment assessment, certain assets and liabilities in a business combination, and certain liabilities involved with exit or disposal activities. As of January 1, 2008, we adopted SFAS No. 157 and the one year partial deferral guidance in FSP No. 157-2. For additional information, see Note 4 Fair Value Measurements.

#### Recently issued pronouncements

SFAS No. 141 (Revised 2007) *Business Combinations*. This Statement applies to business combinations other than joint ventures, asset acquisitions, businesses under common control and not-for-profit organizations. It requires the acquirer to recognize the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, contractual contingencies, and contingent consideration at their fair values as of the acquisition date. This Statement also requires acquisition costs to be expensed as incurred, restructuring costs to be expensed in the period subsequent to the acquisition date, and changes in deferred tax asset valuation allowances and income tax uncertainties after the acquisition date to impact tax expense. This Statement also requires the acquirer in an acquisition implemented in stages to recognize the identifiable assets and liabilities, as well as the noncontrolling interest in the acquire, at the full amounts of their fair values. This Statement is effective for business combinations with an acquisition date after December 31, 2008.

SFAS No. 160 Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements an amendment of Accounting Research Bulletin (ARB) No. 51. This Statement establishes new accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. It requires the recognition of a noncontrolling interest (minority interest) as equity in the consolidated financial statements and separate from the parent's equity. The amount of net income attributable to the noncontrolling interest will be included in consolidated net income on the face of the income statement. The Statement clarifies that changes in a parent's ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in deconsolidation are equity transactions if the parent retains its controlling financial interest. In addition, this Statement requires that a parent recognize a gain or loss in net income when a subsidiary is deconsolidated. Such gain or loss will be measured using the fair value of the noncontrolling equity investment on the deconsolidation date. The Statement also includes expanded disclosure requirements regarding the interests of the parent and its noncontrolling interest. The Statement is effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2009. We have not yet determined the impact of this Statement on our consolidated financial statements.

SFAS No. 161 *Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133.* This Statement enhances the disclosure requirements for derivative instruments and hedging activities and requires that an entity disclose how derivative instruments



#### CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

are used, how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for under SFAS No. 133 and its related interpretations, and how the derivative instruments and hedged items affect an entity's financial position, financial performance, and related cash flows. The Statement is effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2009. We do not expect this Statement to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and disclosures.

FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. EITF 03-6-1 Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions Are Participating Securities. This FSP applies to the calculation of earnings per share (EPS) under SFAS No. 128 for share based payment awards with rights to dividends or dividend equivalents. Unvested share-based payment awards that contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents (whether paid or unpaid) are participating securities and should be included in the computation of EPS pursuant to the two-class method. This FSP is effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2009 with retrospective adjustment to previously reported EPS data for comparative purposes. We have not yet determined the impact of this FSP on our consolidated financial statements.

SFAS No. 162 *The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles*. This Statement identifies the sources of accounting principles and the framework for selecting principles to be used in the preparation and presentation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. This statement will be effective 60 days after the Securities and Exchange Commission approves the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board's amendments to AU Section 411, *The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting Principles*. We do not expect this Statement to have an impact on our consolidated financial statements.

#### 4. Fair Value Measurements

Effective January 1, 2008, we adopted SFAS No. 157 *Fair Value Measurements* (SFAS 157) and FSP No. 157-2, which deferred the adoption of portions of SFAS 157. SFAS 157 establishes a single authoritative definition of fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value, and provides a disclosure framework for assets and liabilities measured at fair value. The framework for measuring fair value establishes a fair value hierarchy to prioritize and classify the inputs that are used to determine fair value and define disclosures. The hierarchy consists of the following three levels:

Level 1 quoted prices in active markets that we have the ability to access for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active, and model-based valuations in which all significant inputs are observable in the market.

Level 3 valuations using significant inputs that are unobservable in the market and include our own judgments about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.

FSP No. 157-2 defers for one year the effective date of SFAS 157 for nonfinancial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. The purpose of this deferral is to allow the FASB and constituents additional time to consider the effect of various implementation issues that have arisen, or may arise, from the application of SFAS 157. The assets and liabilities included in our consolidated balance sheet for which the adoption of SFAS 157 has been deferred include our long-lived assets and asset retirement obligations.

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

The following table presents assets and liabilities included in our consolidated balance sheet that are recognized at fair value on a recurring basis, and indicates the fair value hierarchy utilized to determine such fair value.

#### Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

	Ju	lance as of ıne 30, 2008	in M	DuotedSignificantPricesOtherActiveObservableIarketsInputsLevel 1)(Level 2)(in millions)			Unobs In	ificant servable puts vel 3)
Available-for-sale short-term investments	\$	238.7	\$	238.7	\$		\$	
Unrealized gains on natural gas derivatives		132.0				132.0		
Asset retirement obligation escrow account		28.5		28.5				
Investments in auction rate securities		221.1						221.1
Nonqualified employee benefit trust		10.4		10.4				
Total assets at fair value	\$	630.7	\$	277.6	\$	132.0	\$	221.1

Following is a summary of the valuation techniques for assets and liabilities recorded in our consolidated balance sheet at their fair value on a recurring basis:

*Short-term Investments* As of June 30, 2008, our short-term investments consisted of U.S. Treasury Bills with original maturities between three and six months. These investments are accounted for as available-for-sale securities. The fair value of our short-term investments is based upon the daily quoted market prices for each of our investments. See Note 8 Cash and Cash Equivalents, Short-term Investments and Investments in Auction Rate Securities for additional information.

*Natural Gas Derivatives* The derivative instruments that we currently use are natural gas swap contracts. These contracts settle using NYMEX futures (for Donaldsonville) or AECO (for Medicine Hat) price indexes, which represent fair value at any given time. The contracts are traded in months forward and settlements are scheduled to coincide with anticipated gas purchases during those future periods. Quoted market prices from NYMEX and AECO are used to determine the fair value of these instruments. See Note 14 Derivative Financial Instruments for additional information.

Asset Retirement Obligation Escrow Account We utilize an escrow account to meet our financial assurance requirements associated with certain asset retirement obligations in Florida. The investments in this escrow account are accounted for as available-for-sale securities. The fair value of the escrow account is based upon daily quoted prices representing the Net Asset Value (NAV) of the investments. See Note 12 Asset Retirement Obligations for additional information.

*Investments in Auction Rate Securities* Our investments in Auction Rate Securities consist of securities issued by governmental agencies including those issued by state, local or other governmental entities, and those supported by student loans which are guaranteed by entities affiliated with governmental entities. Our auction rate securities are accounted for as available-for-sale securities. In the first quarter of 2008, due to illiquidity in the market for auction rate securities, we classified these securities as noncurrent assets. We are unable to use significant observable (Level 1 or Level 2) inputs to value these investments and, therefore, used a mark-to-model approach that relies on discounted cash flows, market data and inputs derived from similar instruments. This model takes into account, among other variables, the base interest rate, credit spreads, downgrade risks and default/recovery risk, the estimated time required to work out the disruption in the traditional auction process and its effect

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

on liquidity, and the effects of insurance and other credit enhancements. Due to the significant number of unobservable inputs that were used to value our auction rate securities, they are classified as Level 3 for purposes of reporting under the guidance of SFAS 157. See Note 8 Cash and Cash Equivalents, Short-term Investments and Investments in Auction Rate Securities for additional information.

*Nonqualified Employee Benefit Trust* We maintain a trust associated with certain deferred compensation related to nonqualified employee benefits. The investments are accounted for as available-for-sale securities. The fair value of the trust is based on daily quoted prices representing the NAV of the investments.

The following table provides a reconciliation of changes in our consolidated balance sheet for our assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3). These assets currently consist of our investments in auction rate securities. Our assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and considers factors specific to the asset or liability. It is reasonably possible that a change in the estimated fair value for instruments measured using Level 3 inputs could occur in the future.

#### Fair Value Measurements Using Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)

	auct	estments in tion rate curities
	(in r	nillions)
Fair value, January 1, 2008	\$	
Transfers into Level 3		268.5
Sales and redemptions		(36.6)
Unrealized losses included in other comprehensive income		(10.8)
Fair value, June 30, 2008	\$	221.1

#### 5. Net Earnings Per Share

Net earnings per share were computed as follows:

	Three r end June	ed	Six mont June			
	2008	2007	2008	2007		
	(in milli	ons, except	t per share amounts)			
Net earnings available to common stockholders	\$ 288.6	\$ 93.6	\$ 447.4	\$ 150.8		
Basic earnings per common share:						
Weighted average common shares outstanding	56.2	55.4	56.2	55.3		
Net earnings	\$ 5.13	\$ 1.69	\$ 7.96	\$ 2.73		
Diluted earnings per common share:						
Weighted average common shares outstanding	56.2	55.4	56.2	55.3		
Dilutive common shares:						
Stock options	1.2	1.1	1.2	1.0		
Restricted stock	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1		
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding	57.5	56.6	57.5	56.4		

Net earnings	\$ 5.02	\$ 1.65	\$ 7.79	\$ 2.67

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

#### 6. Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits

CF Industries, Inc. and its Canadian subsidiary both maintain noncontributory, defined-benefit pension plans. The U.S. pension plan is a closed plan. We also provide group insurance to our retirees. Until age 65, retirees are eligible to continue to receive the same Company-subsidized medical coverage provided to active employees. When a retiree reaches age 65, medical coverage ceases.

Net periodic benefit cost included the following components:

	Pension Plans				Retiree M	<b>Iedical</b>		
	Three months ended June 30,		Six months ended June 30,		Three I end June	led	s Six months ended June 30,	
	2008	2007	2008	2007	2008	2007	2008	2007
				(in mil	lions)			
Service cost for benefits earned during the period	\$ 1.7	\$ 1.7	\$ 3.3	\$ 3.4	\$ 0.4	\$ 0.3	\$1.4	\$0.6
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation	3.6	3.4	7.2	6.7	0.5	0.4	1.0	0.9
Expected return on plan assets	(4.1)	(3.6)	(8.1)	(7.1)	0.5	0.1	1.0	0.9
Amortization of transition obligation					0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2
Amortization of actuarial loss	0.2	0.6	0.3	1.0	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.1
Net periodic benefit cost	\$ 1.4	\$ 2.1	\$ 2.7	\$ 4.0	\$ 1.2	\$ 0.9	\$2.8	\$1.8

Our estimated aggregate pension funding contribution for 2008 is \$8 million.

In addition to our qualified defined benefit pension plans, we also maintain nonqualified supplemental pension plans for highly compensated employees as defined under federal law. We recognized expense for these plans of \$0.5 million and \$0.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively, and \$0.8 million and \$0.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Included in the amounts recognized as expense for the three and six months ended June 30, was \$0.2 million and \$0.3 million, respectively, of amortization for amounts included in our accumulated other comprehensive loss.

## 7. Income Taxes

The income tax provisions recorded for the three and six months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007 were determined in accordance with the requirements of SFAS No. 109 Accounting for Income Taxes, APB Opinion No. 28 Interim Financial Reporting, and FIN No. 18 Accounting for Income Taxes in Interim Periods.

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

## 8. Cash and Cash Equivalents, Short-Term Investments and Investments in Auction Rate Securities

Our cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and investments in auction rate securities consist of the following:

	June 30, 2008		mber 31, 2007			
	(in	(in millions)				
Cash	\$ 9.3	\$	9.1			
Cash equivalents:						
Federal government obligations	769.1		325.4			
Other debt securities	27.4		32.0			
Total cash and cash equivalents	\$805.8	\$	366.5			
Short-term investments:						
Federal government obligations	\$238.7	\$				
Tax exempt auction rate securities			494.5			
Total short-term investments	\$238.7	\$	494.5			
Noncurrent investments in auction rate securities:						
Tax exempt auction rate securities	\$221.1	\$				

Under our short-term investment policy, we can invest our cash balances in several types of securities, including notes and bonds issued by governmental entities or corporations, and money market funds. Securities issued by governmental entities include those issued directly by the Federal government; those issued by state, local or other governmental entities; and those guaranteed by entities affiliated with governmental entities.

#### Cash and Cash Equivalents

At June 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, we had cash and cash equivalents of \$805.8 million and \$366.5 million, respectively, consisting primarily of U.S. Treasury Bills.

#### Short-term Investments and Investments in Auction Rate Securities

As of June 30, 2008, our short-term investments of \$238.7 million consisted of U.S. Treasury Bills with original maturities between three and six months. As of December 31, 2007, our short-term investments of \$494.5 million were generally available-for-sale high grade tax exempt auction rate securities that were issued by various state or local governmental entities, including securities backed by student loans that are guaranteed under the Federal Family Education Loan Program.

Auction rate securities are primarily debt instruments with long-term maturities for which interest rates are reset periodically through an auction process, which typically occurs every 7 to 35 days. The auction process results in the interest rate being reset on the underlying securities until the next reset or auction date. A failed auction occurs when there are insufficient bids for the number of instruments being offered. Upon a failed auction, the then present holders of the instruments continue to hold them and the instrument carries an interest rate based upon certain predefined formulas.

In February 2008, the market for these securities began to show signs of illiquidity as auctions for several securities failed on their scheduled auction dates. Shortly thereafter, liquidity left the market,

## **CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.**

causing the traditional auction process to fail. As a result, it was determined that these investments were no longer liquid and we would not be able to access these funds until such time as an auction of these investments is successful, a buyer is found outside of the auction process, and/or the securities are redeemed by the issuer.

During the second quarter of 2008, \$36.6 million of our auction rate securities were either redeemed by the issuer or sold at par value. Therefore, as of June 30, 2008, our remaining investments in available-for-sale high grade tax-exempt auction rate securities were reported at a fair value of \$221.1 million after reflecting a \$10.8 million unrealized holding loss against a par value of \$231.9 million. The unrealized holding loss has been reported in other comprehensive income. We valued these investments using a mark-to-model approach that relies on discounted cash flows, market data and inputs derived from similar instruments. This model takes into account, among other variables, the base interest rate, credit spreads, downgrade risks and default/recovery risk, the estimated time required to work out the disruption in the traditional auction process and its effect on liquidity, and the effects of insurance and other credit enhancements. In accordance with our policies, we review the underlying securities and assess the creditworthiness of these investments as part of our investment process. In each case, our reviews have continued to find these investments to be investment grade.

As a result of the current market illiquidity and our judgment regarding the period of time that may elapse until the traditional auction process resumes or other effective market trading mechanisms develop, we have classified these investments as noncurrent assets on our consolidated balance sheet. The underlying securities have stated maturities that primarily range between 10 and 40 years. We believe we have the ability to hold these securities until market liquidity returns and the auction process resumes, and we presently intend to hold the securities until such time. For additional information on our investments in auction rate securities, see Note 4 Fair Value Measurements.

#### 9. Inventories

Inventories consist of the following:

	June 30, 2008		mber 31, 2007				
	(in	(in millions)					
Fertilizer	\$306.0	\$	190.5				
Raw materials, spare parts and supplies	62.8		41.2				
	\$368.8	\$	231.7				

#### 10. Assets Held for Sale

In 2006, we decided to sell our corporate office facility located in Long Grove, Illinois and entered into a long-term lease for a new corporate office facility in Deerfield, Illinois. In 2007, we relocated our corporate headquarters to the Deerfield facility and classified our Long Grove facility as an asset held for sale in accordance with SFAS No. 144 *Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets*. The Long Grove facility consists of an office building and a parcel of excess land. During 2007, we were in active negotiations with potential buyers and had determined that the building and excess land met the criteria in SFAS No. 144 for such classification. In the first quarter of 2008, due to a decline in the real estate market and a deteriorating credit market, negotiations with potential buyers of the building failed to progress, causing us to no longer consider it probable that the building would be sold within one year. As a result we reclassified \$6.1 million, the carrying value of the building, back to property, plant and equipment. The \$0.6 million remaining on our consolidated balance sheet as assets held for sale represents the net book value of the excess land at our Long Grove facility. In July

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

2008, we completed the sale of the excess land and expect to recognize a pre-tax gain of approximately \$4 million in the third quarter of 2008. These assets are included within our Other segment in Note 18 Segment Disclosures.

#### 11. Investments in and Advances to Unconsolidated Affiliates

We own 50% of the common shares of KEYTRADE AG (Keytrade), a global fertilizer trading company headquartered near Zurich, Switzerland. We also own certain non-voting preferred shares of Keytrade and provided additional subordinated financing. The investment provides us with a global platform for marketing and sourcing fertilizer. Keytrade is our exclusive exporter of phosphate fertilizer products from North America and our exclusive importer of UAN products into North America. We account for Keytrade as an equity method investment. Changes in our investment in and advances to Keytrade are as follows:

		(in
	mil	llions)
Balance at December 31, 2007	\$	41.6
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates net of taxes		8.9
Effect of exchange rate changes		3.8
Balance at June 30, 2008	\$	54.3

At June 30, 2008, the amount of consolidated retained earnings that represents our undistributed earnings of Keytrade is \$10.5 million.

The advances to Keytrade of \$17.0 million are subordinated notes that mature September 30, 2017 and bear interest at LIBOR plus 1.00 percent. We recognized \$0.2 million and \$0.3 million in interest income on advances to Keytrade for the three and six months ended June 30, 2008, respectively. The carrying value of our advances to Keytrade approximates fair value.

## 12. Asset Retirement Obligations

Asset retirement obligations (AROs) are legal obligations associated with the retirement of long-lived assets that result from the acquisition, construction, development or normal operation of such assets. We account for AROs in accordance with SFAS No. 143 *Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations*, and FIN No. 47 *Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations* (conditional AROs). Our AROs are primarily associated with phosphogypsum stack systems and mine reclamation in Florida.

The balances of AROs and changes thereto are summarized below:

	mi	(in llions)
Obligation at December 31, 2007	\$	89.4
Accretion expense		3.2
Liabilities incurred		1.4
Expenditures		(4.5)
Obligation at June 30, 2008	\$	89.5



## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

AROs are reported in accrued expenses and other noncurrent liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet, as follows:

	June 30, 2008	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	(in )	millions	)
Current portion	\$ 12.8	\$	15.0
Noncurrent portion	76.7		74.4
	\$ 89.5	\$	89.4

In the first quarters of 2008 and 2007, we made annual contributions of \$6.2 million and \$9.4 million, respectively, to an escrow account established for the benefit of the Florida Department of Environmental Protection in order to comply with Florida's regulations governing financial assurance related to the closure of phosphogypsum stacks. Over the next eight years, we expect to contribute between \$4 million and \$5 million annually based upon the required funding formula as defined in the regulations and an assumed rate of return of 4% on invested funds. Our estimate of the amount of funds that will have accumulated in the account by the year 2016, including interest earned on invested funds, is approximately \$79 million. After 2016, contributions to the fund are estimated to average approximately \$3 million annually for the following 17 years. The balance in the account is estimated to reach approximately \$212 million by 2033. The required balance in the account is based on predetermined funding requirements as prescribed by the State of Florida. No expense is recognized upon the funding of the account will be used to fund settlement of the AROs. The balance in the escrow account is reported as an asset at fair value on our consolidated balance sheet.

Additionally, Florida regulations require mining companies to demonstrate financial assurance for reclamation, and for wetland and other surface water mitigation measures. We will also be required to demonstrate financial assurance for reclamation, and for wetland and other surface water mitigation measures in advance of any mining activities if and when we are able to expand our Hardee mining activities into areas not currently permitted.

#### 13. Credit Agreement

Our senior secured revolving credit facility (the credit facility) with a bank syndicate led by JPMorgan Chase provides CF Industries, Inc. (the Borrower) with up to \$250 million, subject to a borrowing base, for working capital and general corporate purposes, including up to \$50 million for the issuance of letters of credit. As of June 30, 2008, there was \$249.3 million of available credit, based on the borrowing base, and there were no loans or letters of credit outstanding under the credit facility.

The credit facility is guaranteed by CF Holdings and certain domestic subsidiaries of CF Industries, Inc. (the Loan Parties). The credit facility is secured by substantially all of the personal property and assets, both tangible and intangible, of the Loan Parties, 100% of the equity interests of each Loan Party's direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries other than immaterial subsidiaries, 65% of the equity interests of each Loan Party's first-tier foreign subsidiaries and the real property located in Donaldsonville, Louisiana. For additional information on the credit facility, refer to Note 22 Credit Agreement, in our 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 27, 2008.



## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

## 14. Derivative Financial Instruments

We use natural gas in the manufacture of nitrogen fertilizer products. We manage the risk of changes in gas prices through the use of physical gas supply contracts and derivative financial instruments covering periods not exceeding three years. We use natural gas derivative instruments primarily to lock in a substantial portion of our margin on sales under the Forward Pricing Program. Our natural gas acquisition policy also allows us to establish derivative positions that are associated with anticipated natural gas requirements, unrelated to our Forward Pricing Program.

The derivative instruments that we currently use are natural gas swap contracts. These contracts settle using NYMEX futures (for Donaldsonville) or AECO (for Medicine Hat) price indexes, which represent fair value at any given time. The contracts are traded in months forward and settlements are scheduled to coincide with anticipated gas purchases used to manufacture nitrogen products during those future periods.

We account for derivatives under SFAS No. 133 Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended by subsequent standards. Under these standards, derivatives are recognized in the consolidated balance sheet at fair value and changes in their fair value are recognized immediately in earnings, unless hedge accounting is elected or the normal purchase and sale exemption applies. We use natural gas derivatives primarily as an economic hedge of gas price risk, but without the application of hedge accounting under SFAS No. 133. Accordingly, changes in the fair value of the derivatives are recorded in cost of sales as the changes occur. Cash flows related to natural gas derivatives are reported as operating activities.

The effect of derivatives in our consolidated statements of operations is shown below. All amounts arise from natural gas derivatives that are not designated as hedging instruments and are recorded in cost of sales.

	Т	hree moi Jun			Six months ended June 30,		
		2008	2007		2008	2007	
				(in milli	ons)		
Realized gains (losses)	\$	53.9	\$	(1.8)	\$ 48.9	\$ (17.7)	
Unrealized mark-to-market gains (losses)		83.2		(36.3)	152.8	2.2	
Net derivative gains (losses)	\$	137.1	\$	(38.1)	\$201.7	\$ (15.5)	

The fair values of derivatives on our consolidated balance sheets are shown below. All amounts arise from natural gas derivatives that are not designated as hedging instruments.

	June 30, 2008		nber 31, 007
	(in	s)	
Unrealized gains in other current assets	\$132.0	\$	1.2
Unrealized losses in other current liabilities			(22.0)
Net unrealized derivative gains (losses)	\$132.0	\$	(20.8)

As of June 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, we had open derivative contracts for 48.3 million MMBtus and 39.1 million MMBtus, respectively, of natural gas.



## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

## 15. Stock-Based Compensation

We grant stock-based compensation awards under our 2005 Equity and Incentive Plan. These awards, which are generally nonqualified stock options and restricted stock, are accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 123R *Share-Based Payment*, which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all share-based payment awards based on grant date fair values. We estimate the fair value of each stock option award using the Black-Scholes option valuation model. The fair value of the restricted stock is equal to the closing market price of our common stock on the date of grant.

At June 30, 2008, we had 2.1 million stock options outstanding with an aggregate intrinsic value of \$273.5 million. At December 31, 2007, we had 2.3 million stock options outstanding with an aggregate intrinsic value of \$208.6 million. During the three months ended June 30, 2008, we granted 3,318 shares of restricted stock to non-management members of our Board of Directors under the CF Industries Holdings, Inc. 2005 Equity and Incentive Plan. There were no other stock compensation awards granted in the first half of 2008.

Compensation cost is recorded primarily in selling, general, and administrative expense. The following table summarizes stock-based compensation costs and related income tax benefits for the three and six months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007.

	Three months ended June 30,					Six months ende June 30,		
	2008		2007		2008		2	007
				ons)				
Stock-based compensation expense	\$	2.2	\$	2.2	\$	4.5	\$	4.1
Income tax benefit		(0.8)		(0.8)		(1.7)		(1.6)
Stock-based compensation expense, net of income taxes	\$	1.4	\$	1.4	\$	2.8	\$	2.5

Pre-tax unrecognized compensation expense for stock options, net of estimated forfeitures, was \$4.2 million as of June 30, 2008, which will be recognized as expense over a weighted-average period of 1.3 years. Pre-tax unrecognized compensation expense for restricted stock awards, net of estimated forfeitures, was \$2.1 million as of June 30, 2008, which will be recognized as expense over a weighted-average period of 1.3 years.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2008, 0.1 million and 0.2 million stock options were exercised with a pre-tax intrinsic value of \$14.7 million and \$28.2 million, respectively. Cash received from stock option exercises for the three and six months ended June 30, 2008 was \$1.9 million and \$4.0 million, respectively. At June 30, 2008, 0.9 million stock options were exercisable with an aggregate intrinsic value of \$117.9 million. At December 31, 2007, 1.0 million stock options were exercisable with an intrinsic value of \$97.4 million.

An excess tax benefit generally is generated when the fair value of the stock award on the exercise or vesting date exceeds the fair value on the grant date. As a result, the realized tax benefit from the vesting of restricted stock, or a stock option exercise, exceeds the previously recognized deferred tax asset. SFAS No. 123R requires excess tax benefits to be reported as a financing cash inflow rather than a reduction of taxes paid. Excess tax benefits for the three and six months ended June 30, 2008 were \$5.5 million and \$10.2 million, respectively.

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

#### 16. Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Changes to accumulated other comprehensive loss and the impact on other comprehensive income (loss) are as follows:

	Unrealized Foreign Gain Currency (Loss) Translation on Adjustment Securities		Foreign Gain Currency (Loss) Defined Translation on Benefit		Currency Translation			Benefit	O Comp	mulated other rehensive ne (Loss)
				(in n	nillions)					
Balance at December 31, 2007	\$	1.0	\$	0.5	\$ (22.7)	\$	(21.2)			
Unrealized holding loss on securities				(12.1)			(12.1)			
Reclassification to earnings				0.5	1.0		1.5			
Deferred taxes and other changes		(0.7)		4.4	(0.2)		3.5			
Balance at June 30, 2008	\$	0.3	\$	(6.7)	\$ (21.9)	\$	(28.3)			
Balance at December 31, 2006										
	\$	(2.9)	\$	0.4	\$ (30.9)	\$	(33.4)			
Unrealized holding loss on securities				(0.1)			(0.1)			
Reclassification to earnings				0.3	1.6		1.9			
Deferred taxes and other changes		2.0		(0.1)	(1.0)		0.9			
Balance at June 30, 2007	\$	(0.9)	\$	0.5	\$ (30.3)	\$	(30.7)			

The \$12.1 million in pre-tax unrealized holding loss on securities consists of \$10.8 million related to our investments in auction rate securities and \$1.3 million related to our nonqualified employee benefit trust. For additional information on our investments in auction rate securities, see Note 4 Fair Value Measurements and Note 8 Cash and Cash Equivalents, Short-term Investments and Investments in Auction Rate Securities.

#### 17. Contingencies

#### Litigation

From time to time, we are subject to ordinary, routine legal proceedings related to the usual conduct of our business, including proceedings regarding public utility and transportation rates, environmental matters, taxes and permits relating to the operations of our various plants and facilities. Based on the information available as of the date of this filing, we believe that the ultimate outcome of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

#### Environmental

#### Plant City Environmental Matters

In December 2004 and January 2005, the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) inspected our Plant City, Florida phosphate fertilizer complex to evaluate the facility's compliance with the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA), the federal statute that governs the generation, transportation, treatment, storage and disposal of hazardous wastes. This inspection was undertaken as a part of a broad enforcement initiative commenced by the EPA to evaluate whether mineral processing and mining facilities, including, in particular, all wet process phosphoric acid production facilities, are in compliance with RCRA, and the extent to which such facilities' waste management practices have impacted the environment.

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

By letter dated September 27, 2005, EPA Region 4 issued to the Company a Notice of Violation (NOV) and Compliance Evaluation Inspection Report. The NOV and Compliance Evaluation Inspection Report alleged a number of violations of RCRA, including violations relating to recordkeeping, the failure to properly make hazardous waste determinations as required by RCRA, and alleged treatment of sulfuric acid waste without a permit. The most significant allegation in the NOV is that the Plant City facility's reuse of phosphoric acid process water (which is otherwise exempt from regulation as a hazardous waste) in the production of ammoniated phosphate fertilizer, and the return of this process water to the facility's process water recirculating system, have resulted in the disposal of hazardous waste into the system without a permit. The Compliance Evaluation Inspection Report indicates that, as a result, the entire process water system, including all pipes, ditches, cooling ponds and gypsum stacks, could be regulated as hazardous waste management units under RCRA.

Several of our competitors have received NOVs making this same allegation. This particular recycling of process water is common in the industry and, the Company believes, was authorized by the EPA in 1990. The Company also believes that this allegation is inconsistent with recent case law governing the scope of the EPA's regulatory authority under RCRA. If the EPA's position is eventually upheld, the Company could be required to modify its practices with respect to the reuse of process water in its ammoniated phosphate fertilizer plants, or it may be required to comply with regulations applicable to hazardous waste treatment, storage or disposal facilities. Based on recent testing, the Company believes that without having to incur material expenditures, we can replace the process water as a scrubbing medium at the ammoniated phosphate fertilizer plants and maintain compliance with Plant City's air permit, thus addressing on a going-forward basis the alleged violation relating to the reuse of process water system, it could incur material capital and operating expenditures or may be required to case operation of the water recirculating system if it is determined that it does not meet RCRA standards. This would cause a significant disruption of the operations of the Plant City facility.

The NOV indicated that the Company is liable for penalties up to the statutory maximum (for example, the statutory maximum per day of noncompliance for each violation that occurred after March 15, 2004 is \$32,500 per day). Although penalties of this magnitude are rarely, if ever, imposed, the Company is at risk of incurring substantial civil penalties with respect to these allegations. The EPA has referred this matter to the United States Department of Justice (DOJ) for enforcement. The Company has entered into discussions with the DOJ that have included not only the issues identified in the NOV but other operational practices of the Company and its competitors. The Company does not know if this matter will be resolved prior to the commencement of litigation by the United States.

In connection with the RCRA enforcement initiative, the EPA collected samples of soil, groundwater and various waste streams at the Plant City facility. The analysis of the split samples collected by the Company during the EPA's inspection did not identify hazardous waste disposal issues impacting the site. The EPA's sampling results appear to be consistent with the Company's own sampling results. Pursuant to a 1992 consent order with the State of Florida, the Company captures and reuses groundwater that has been impacted as a result of the former operation of an unlined gypsum stack at the site. Although the Company believes that it has evaluated and is remediating the impacts resulting from its historic activities, the DOJ and the EPA have indicated that they will be seeking additional environmental investigation at the facilities subject to the enforcement initiative, including Plant City. In addition, we understand that the EPA may decide to inspect our Bartow, Florida property, where we formerly manufactured phosphoric acid. The EPA has requested, and the Company has provided copies of, existing monitoring data for this facility. Depending on the conclusions that the EPA reaches after reviewing this data, the EPA may require that an investigation of environmental conditions be undertaken at the Bartow facility.

## **CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.**

On March 19, 2007, the Company received a letter from the EPA under Section 114 of the Federal Clean Air Act requesting information and copies of records relating to compliance with New Source Review, New Source Performance Standards, and National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants at the Plant City facility. The Company responded to this letter with the information requested, completing the document production process in late 2007. The EPA initiated this same process in relation to numerous other sulfuric acid plants and phosphoric acid plants throughout the nation, including other facilities in Florida. In some cases, the EPA filed enforcement proceedings asserting that the facilities had not complied with the Clean Air Act. To date, these enforcement proceedings have been resolved through settlements. It is not known at this time whether the EPA will initiate enforcement with respect to the Plant City facility.

Pursuant to a letter from the DOJ dated July 28, 2008 that was sent to representatives of the major U.S. phosphoric acid manufacturers, including CF Industries, Inc., the DOJ stated that it and the EPA believe that apparent violations of Section 313 of the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act (EPCRA), which requires annual reports to be submitted with respect to the use of certain toxic chemicals, have occurred at all of the phosphoric acid facilities operated by these manufacturers. The letter also states that the DOJ and the EPA believe that most of these facilities have violated Section 304 of EPCRA and Section 103 of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA) by failing to provide required notifications relating to the release of hydrogen fluoride from these facilities. The letter did not specifically identify alleged violations at our Plant City, Florida complex or assert a claim for a specific amount of penalties.

As a result of the factors discussed above, we cannot estimate the potential penalties, fines or other expenditures, if any that may result from the Plant City environmental matters, and therefore, we cannot determine if the ultimate outcome of these matters will have a material impact on the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

#### Louisiana Environmental Matters

Our Donaldsonville Nitrogen Complex is located in a five-parish region near Baton Rouge, Louisiana that, as of 2005, was designated as being in "severe" nonattainment with respect to the national ambient air quality standard (NAAQS) for ozone (the "1-hour ozone standard") pursuant to the Federal Clean Air Act (the Act). Section 185 of the Act requires states, in their state implementation plans, to levy a fee (Section 185 fee) on major stationary sources (such as the Donaldsonville facility) located in a severe nonattainment area that did not meet the 1-hour ozone standard by November 30, 2005. The fee was to be assessed for each calendar year (beginning in 2006) until the area achieved compliance with the ozone NAAQS.

Prior to the imposition of Section 185 fees, the EPA adopted a new ozone standard (the "8-hour ozone standard") and rescinded the 1-hour ozone standard. The Baton Rouge area is currently designated as a "moderate" nonattainment area with respect to the 8-hour ozone standard. However, because Section 185 fees had never been assessed prior to the rescission of the 1-hour ozone standard (rescinded prior to the November 30, 2005 ozone attainment deadline), the EPA concluded in a 2004 rulemaking implementing the 8-hour ozone standard that the Act did not require states to assess Section 185 fees. As a result, Section 185 fees were not assessed against CF Industries, Inc. and other companies located in the Baton Rouge area.

In 2006, the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals rejected the EPA's position and held that Section 185 fees were controls that must be maintained and fees that should have been assessed under the Act. In January 2008, the U.S. Supreme Court declined to accept the case for review, making the appellate court's decision final.



## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

The EPA has not yet proposed new regulations to address the Section 185 fee issue and there remains uncertainty as to the implementation of this provision, including the timing of any assessments; whether the EPA will authorize states to adopt plans to implement Section 185 by means other than the assessment of a fee; and whether major sources located in areas that would have achieved compliance with the 1-hour ozone standard, but continue to be in non-compliance with the 8-hour ozone standard, will continue to be subject to the Section 185 fee. Regardless of the approach adopted by the EPA, we expect that it is likely to be challenged by the environmental community, the states, and/or affected industries. Therefore, the costs associated with compliance with the Act cannot be determined at this time, and we cannot reasonably estimate the impact on the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

#### 18. Segment Disclosures

We are organized and managed based on two segments, which are differentiated primarily by their products, the markets they serve and the regulatory environments in which they operate. The two segments are the nitrogen and phosphate fertilizer businesses. The Company's management uses gross margin to evaluate segment performance and allocate resources. Selling, general and administrative expenses; other operating and non-operating expenses; interest; as well as income tax expense, are centrally managed and not included in the measurement of segment profitability reviewed by management.

Segment data for sales, cost of sales and gross margin for the three and six months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007, and assets at June 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, are presented below. Other assets include amounts attributable to the corporate headquarters and unallocated corporate assets.

		Nitrogen	Phosphate	Consolidate			
			(in millio	ns)			
Three months ended June 30, 2008							
Net sales							
Ammonia		\$272.3	\$	\$	272.3		
Urea		335.2			335.2		
UAN		237.2			237.2		
DAP			263.9		263.9		
MAP			48.5		48.5		
Other		3.9			3.9		
		9496	212.4		1 1 ( 1 0		
		848.6	312.4		1,161.0		
Cost of sales		486.6	204.5		691.1		
Gross margin		\$362.0	\$ 107.9	\$	469.9		
Three months ended June 30, 2007							
Net sales							
Ammonia		\$264.6	\$	\$	264.6		
Urea		237.9			237.9		
UAN		165.6			165.6		
DAP			141.9		141.9		
MAP			35.5		35.5		
Other		3.4			3.4		
		671.5	177.4		848.9		
Cost of sales		548.7	122.6		671.3		
Gross margin		\$122.8	\$ 54.8	\$	177.6		
e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e							
	20						

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

		Nitrogen	Phosphate	Con	solidated
			(in millions	)	
fix months ended June 30, 2008					
Net sales					
Ammonia		\$ 304.4	\$	\$	304.4
Urea		586.8			586.8
UAN		391.0			391.0
DAP			453.2		453.2
MAP			88.7		88.7
Other		4.2			4.2
		1,286.4	541.9		1,828.3
Cost of sales		726.9	360.3		1,087.2
Gross margin		\$ 559.5	\$ 181.6	\$	741.1
ix months ended June 30, 2007 Net sales					
Ammonia		\$ 300.6	\$	\$	300.6
		1	\$	\$	
Urea UAN		433.5			433.5 284.6
DAP		284.6	243.8		284.0
MAP			55.1		245.8 55.1
Other		3.7	55.1		3.7
Other		5.7			5.7
		1,022.4	298.9		1,321.3
Cost of sales		808.9	229.7		1,038.6
Gross margin		\$ 213.5	\$ 69.2	\$	282.7
-					
	Nitrogen	Phosphate	e Other	Сог	nsolidated
		(iı	n millions)		
ssets					
June 30, 2008	\$ 805.5	\$ 705.1		\$	2,767.3
December 31, 2007	\$ 593.9	\$ 493.5	5 \$ 925.1	\$	2,012.5
T					

## 19. Related Party Transactions

GROWMARK, Inc. (GROWMARK) was one of our owners before our initial public offering (IPO). William Davisson, the chief executive officer of GROWMARK, is a member of our board of directors. During the year ended December 31, 2007, GROWMARK purchased \$288.4 million of fertilizer products from us which represented 10% of our consolidated net sales in 2007. In addition to purchasing fertilizer from us, GROWMARK also contracted with us to store fertilizer products at certain of our warehouses. In connection with our IPO, we entered into a multi-year fertilizer supply contract with GROWMARK which expired on June 30, 2008.

Effective July 1, 2008, we entered into a new multi-year supply contract with GROWMARK (Supply Agreement) that lasts until June 30, 2013. The term will be extended automatically for successive one-year periods unless a termination notice is given by either party. The Supply Agreement specifies a sales target volume and a requirement volume for the first contract year. The requirement volume is a percentage of the sales target volume and represents the volume of fertilizer that we are obligated to sell and GROWMARK is obligated to purchase during the first contract year. Thereafter, the sales target volume is subject to yearly adjustment by mutual agreement or, failing such agreement,

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

to an amount specified by us which is not more than 105% of the prior year's sales target volume. The requirement volume is also subject to yearly adjustment to an amount specified by GROWMARK which is not less than 65% nor more than 100% of the then applicable sales target volume. The Supply Agreement also contains reciprocal "meet or release" provisions pursuant to which each party must provide the other party with notice and the opportunity to match a transaction with a third party if such a transaction would impact the party's willingness or ability to supply or purchase, as the case may be, the then applicable sales target volume. The "meet or release" provisions may not, however, reduce the requirement volume.

The prices for product sold under the Supply Agreement will vary depending on the type of sale selected by GROWMARK. GROWMARK may select (i) cash sales at prices that are published in our weekly cash price list, (ii) index sales at a published index price, (iii) forward pricing sales under our forward pricing program, and (iv) sales negotiated between the parties. The Supply Agreement also provides for performance incentives based on (i) the percentage of the sales target volume actually purchased, (ii) the timing of purchases under our forward pricing program, (iii) the amount of purchases under our forward pricing program, and (iv) specifying a requirement volume in excess of the then applicable minimum requirement volume. The prices GROWMARK is charged for cash sales, index sales, and forward pricing sales will be the same prices we charge all similarly situated customers.

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

#### ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

You should read the following discussion and analysis in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes included in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of our 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K as well as Item 1, Financial Statements, in this Form 10-Q. All references to "CF Holdings," "we," "us" and "our" refer to CF Industries Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries, including CF Industries, Inc., except where the context makes clear that the reference is only to CF Holdings itself and not its subsidiaries. The following is an outline of the discussion and analysis included herein:

Overview of CF Industries Holdings, Inc.

Our Company

Financial Executive Summary

Results of Consolidated Operations

Second Quarter of 2008 Compared to the Second Quarter of 2007

Six Months Ended June 30, 2008 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2007

**Operating Results by Business Segment** 

Liquidity and Capital Resources

**Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements** 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

**Recent Accounting Pronouncements** 

Forward Looking Statements

#### **Overview of CF Industries Holdings, Inc.**

#### **Our Company**

We are one of the largest manufacturers and distributors of nitrogen and phosphate fertilizer products in North America. Our operations are organized into two business segments: the nitrogen fertilizer business and the phosphate fertilizer business. Our principal products in the nitrogen fertilizer business are ammonia, urea and urea ammonium nitrate solution, or UAN. Our principal products in the phosphate fertilizer business are diammonium phosphate, or DAP, and monoammonium phosphate, or MAP. Our core market and distribution facilities are concentrated in the midwestern U.S. grain-producing states. Our principal customers are cooperatives and independent fertilizer distributors.

Our principal assets include:

## Edgar Filing: CF Industries Holdings, Inc. - Form 10-Q

the largest nitrogen fertilizer complex in North America (Donaldsonville, Louisiana);

a 66% economic interest in the largest nitrogen fertilizer complex in Canada (which we operate in Medicine Hat, Alberta through Canadian Fertilizers Limited (CFL), a consolidated variable interest entity);

one of the largest integrated ammonium phosphate fertilizer complexes in the United States (Plant City, Florida);

the most-recently constructed phosphate rock mine and associated beneficiation plant in the United States (Hardee County, Florida);

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

an extensive system of terminals, warehouses and associated transportation equipment located primarily in the midwestern United States; and

a 50% interest in KEYTRADE AG (Keytrade), a global fertilizer trading company headquartered near Zurich, Switzerland, which we account for as an equity method investment.

#### Financial Executive Summary

We reported net earnings of \$288.6 million in the second quarter of 2008 compared to net earnings of \$93.6 million in the same quarter of 2007. Our results for the second quarter of 2008 included a net \$83.2 million pre-tax unrealized mark-to-market gain (\$53.1 million after tax) on natural gas derivatives. Net earnings of \$93.6 million for the second quarter of 2007 included a net \$36.3 million pre-tax unrealized mark-to-market loss (\$23.4 million after tax) on natural gas derivatives.

Our gross margin increased \$292.3 million to \$469.9 million in the second quarter of 2008 compared to \$177.6 million in the same quarter of 2007. The increase in gross margin resulted mainly from higher average nitrogen and phosphate fertilizer selling prices and unrealized gains from mark-to-market adjustments on natural gas derivatives, partially offset by higher fertilizer raw material costs as well as higher nitrogen fertilizer purchased product costs.

Our net sales increased 37% to \$1.2 billion in the second quarter of 2008 compared to \$848.9 million in the second quarter of 2007. The increase reflected higher average nitrogen and phosphate fertilizer selling prices. A 173,000 ton decrease in fertilizer sold during the second quarter of 2008 resulted in total sales volume of 2.57 million tons compared to 2.75 million tons sold in the comparable quarter of the prior year.

We paid cash dividends of \$5.7 million in the second quarter of 2008, an increase of \$4.6 million from the second quarter of 2007.

Net earnings of \$447.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008 were \$296.6 million greater than net earnings of the comparable period of 2007. The increase in net earnings was due to higher average nitrogen and phosphate fertilizer selling prices and unrealized gains from mark-to-market adjustments on natural gas derivatives, partially offset by higher fertilizer raw material costs and higher purchased product costs.



## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

## **Results of Consolidated Operations**

The following table presents our consolidated results of operations:

	Th	Three months ended June 30, 2008 v.					Six months ended J				ed June 30, 2008 v.		
	20	008	2007 2007				20	008		2007		2007	
			(i	n mill	ion	s, except	per s	share	am	ounts)			
Net sales	\$1,	161.0	\$8	48.9	\$	312.1	\$1,8	328.3	\$	1,321.3	\$	507.0	
Cost of sales		691.1	6	71.3		19.8	1,0	087.2		1,038.6		48.6	
Gross margin		469.9	1	77.6		292.3	, ,	741.1		282.7		458.4	
Selling, general and administrative		18.1		17.5		0.6		36.3		31.2		5.1	
Other operating net		(0.3)	)	0.7		(1.0)		1.1		2.0		(0.9)	
Operating earnings		452.1	1	59.4		292.7	-	703.7		249.5		454.2	
Interest expense		0.4		0.3		0.1		0.8		0.8			
Interest income		(6.6)	)	(5.0)		(1.6)		(15.1)	)	(8.9)		(6.2)	
Minority interest		19.1		19.6		(0.5)		37.6		26.6		11.0	
Other non-operating net		(2.1)	)	(0.4)		(1.7)		(4.8)	)	(0.9)		(3.9)	
Earnings before income taxes and equity													
in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates	4	441.3	1	44.9		296.4	(	585.2		231.9		453.3	
Income tax provision		159.9		51.3		108.6	2	246.7		81.1		165.6	
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated													
affiliates net of taxes		7.2				7.2		8.9				8.9	
Net earnings	\$ 2	288.6	\$	93.6	\$	195.0	\$ 4	147.4	\$	150.8	\$	296.6	
Diluted net earnings per share	\$	5.02	\$	1.65	\$	3.37	\$	7.79	\$	2.67	\$	5.12	
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding arter of 2008 Compared to the Second Qua		57.5		56.6		0.9		57.5		56.4		1.1	

Second Quarter of 2008 Compared to the Second Quarter of 2007

#### Consolidated Operating Results

The domestic fertilizer industry, benefiting from favorable domestic and international market conditions, produced robust operating results in the second quarter of 2008 despite reduced Midwest fertilizer demand resulting from exceptionally wet spring weather. Our total gross margin increased by \$292.3 million to \$469.9 million for the second quarter of 2008 from \$177.6 million for the same period in 2007, due largely to a strong fertilizer pricing environment and unrealized gains from mark-to-market adjustments on natural gas derivatives, partially offset by higher fertilizer raw material costs and higher nitrogen fertilizer purchased product costs. Net earnings of \$288.6 million for the second quarter of 2008 included a net pre-tax unrealized mark-to-market gain of \$83.2 million (\$53.1 million after tax) on natural gas derivatives. Net earnings of \$36.3 million (\$23.4 million after tax) on natural gas derivatives.

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

#### Net Sales

Our net sales increased 37% to \$1.2 billion in the second quarter of 2008 from \$848.9 million in the second quarter of 2007, due to higher average nitrogen and phosphate fertilizer selling prices, offset somewhat by lower nitrogen and phosphate fertilizer sales volume. In the second quarter of 2008, average nitrogen fertilizer selling prices increased by 34%, while average phosphate fertilizer selling prices almost doubled compared to the same quarter of 2007. Our total sales volume decreased by 6% in the second quarter of 2008 to 2.57 million tons compared to 2.75 million tons sold in the second quarter of the prior year. Nitrogen fertilizer sales volume in the second quarter of 2008 decreased 119,000 tons, or 5% compared to the same period of 2007, due primarily to lower ammonia and UAN sales. Our total level of phosphate fertilizer sales in the second quarter of 2008 was 54,000 tons, or 11%, lower than the level sold during the same period in 2007 due to lower export sales.

## Cost of Sales

Total cost of sales of our nitrogen fertilizers averaged approximately \$230 per ton in the second quarter of 2008 compared to \$245 per ton in the same quarter of 2007. This 6% decrease was due primarily to higher unrealized gains from mark-to-market adjustments on natural gas derivatives, partially offset by higher purchased product costs and higher realized natural gas costs. Phosphate fertilizer cost of sales averaged \$448 per ton in the second quarter of 2008 compared to \$240 per ton in the second quarter of the prior year, an increase of 87%, due mainly to higher sulfur and ammonia costs.

During the second quarter of 2008, we sold approximately 1.9 million tons of fertilizer under our Forward Pricing Program, representing approximately 72% of our total fertilizer sales volume for the quarter. In the comparable period of 2007, we sold approximately 1.8 million tons of fertilizer under this program, representing approximately 65% of our total volume.

#### Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased 3% to \$18.1 million for the second quarter of 2008 compared to \$17.5 million in the corresponding quarter of the prior year. The increase in the second quarter of 2008 was due largely to consulting fees, dues for memberships in fertilizer industry groups and higher corporate office expenses, including the cost of maintaining our prior corporate headquarters while the property is marketed for sale.

#### Other Operating Net

Other operating net was \$0.3 million of income in the second quarter of 2008 compared to \$0.7 million of net costs in the same period of 2007. The change was due primarily to a \$1.4 million gain on the sale of property and equipment at our Donaldsonville, Louisiana nitrogen complex.

#### Interest Net

Net interest income increased \$1.5 million to \$6.2 million in the second quarter of 2008 from \$4.7 million in the second quarter of 2007, as higher average balances of invested cash resulted in an increase in interest income from \$5.0 million to \$6.6 million.

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

#### Minority Interest

Amounts reported as minority interest represent the interest of the 34% holder of CFL's common and preferred shares. Minority interest for the second quarter of 2008 approximated the level of the prior year.

#### Income Taxes

The income tax provisions recorded for the three months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007 were based upon our estimated annual effective tax rate, which includes applicable federal, foreign and state income taxes.

Our income tax provision for the second quarter of 2008 was \$159.9 million, or an effective tax rate of 36.2%. This compared with a tax provision of \$51.3 million on pre-tax earnings for the second quarter of 2007, or an effective tax rate of 35.4%. The 2008 increase in the effective tax rate results principally from a lower expected impact of the U.S. domestic production activities deduction and an expected reduction of the level of non-taxable interest income earned.

#### Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliates Net of Taxes

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates net of taxes of \$7.2 million in the second quarter of 2008 consists of our share of the operating results of Keytrade for the second quarter.

#### Diluted Net Earnings Per Share and Diluted Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding

Diluted net earnings per share increased to \$5.02 per share for the second quarter of 2008 from \$1.65 per share for the same quarter of 2007 due primarily to the increase in net earnings, partially offset by an increase in the diluted weighted average number of shares of outstanding common stock. The increase in the diluted weighted average number of shares of outstanding common stock for the second quarter of 2008 versus the same period of 2007 was due to the impact of stock option exercises and restricted stock grants over the previous twelve months.

## Six Months Ended June 30, 2008 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2007

#### Consolidated Operating Results

Strong market fundamentals, including record high crop prices, expectations of a strong 2008 spring planting season and strong international fertilizer market conditions all contributed to favorable operating conditions for the domestic fertilizer industry during the first half of 2008. These positive market factors were tempered by reduced fertilizer demand as a result of flooding and extended periods of exceptionally wet weather throughout our key Midwest market area. Higher average nitrogen and phosphate fertilizer selling prices and unrealized gains from mark-to-market adjustments on natural gas derivatives, offset somewhat by higher fertilizer raw material costs and higher purchased product costs, contributed to a \$458.4 million increase in our gross margin for the six months ended June 30, 2008 as compared to the first half of 2007. Net earnings of \$447.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008 included a net pre-tax unrealized mark-to-market gain of \$152.8 million (\$97.8 million after tax) on natural gas derivatives. Net earnings of \$150.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2007 included a net pre-tax unrealized mark-to-market gain of \$2.2 million (\$1.4 million after tax) on natural gas derivatives.

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

#### Net Sales

Our net sales increased 38% to \$1.8 billion for the six months ended June 30, 2008 from \$1.3 billion for the same period in 2007, due to higher average nitrogen and phosphate fertilizer selling prices, offset somewhat by lower nitrogen and phosphate fertilizer sales volume. Average nitrogen and phosphate fertilizer prices increased by 36% and 90%, respectively, for the six months ended June 30, 2008 compared to average prices in the comparable period of 2007. Our total sales volume decreased by 7% or 327,000 tons for the six months ended June 30, 2008 from the 4.64 million tons sold in the first half of 2007. Nitrogen fertilizer sales volume for the first six months of 2008 decreased 282,000 tons, or 8% compared to the same period of 2007, due primarily to lower ammonia and UAN sales. Our total level of phosphate fertilizer sales for the first half of 2008 was 5% lower than in the same period in 2007 due primarily to lower export sales in the second quarter of 2008.

#### Cost of Sales

Total cost of sales of our nitrogen fertilizers averaged approximately \$215 per ton for the six months ended June 30, 2008 compared to \$221 per ton in the corresponding period of 2007. This 3% decrease was due primarily to higher unrealized gains from mark-to-market adjustments on natural gas derivatives, partially offset by higher purchased product costs and higher realized natural gas costs. Phosphate fertilizer cost of sales averaged \$389 per ton for the six months ended June 30, 2008 compared to \$237 per ton in the same period of the prior year, an increase of 64%, due mainly to higher sulfur and ammonia costs as well as higher purchased product costs.

During the first six months of 2008, we sold approximately 3.1 million tons of fertilizer under our Forward Pricing Program, representing approximately 73% of our total fertilizer sales volume for the period. In the comparable period of 2007, we sold approximately 2.7 million tons of fertilizer under this program, representing approximately 59% of our total volume for the period.

#### Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased 16% to \$36.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008 compared to \$31.2 million in the corresponding period of the prior year. The year-over-year increase in expense for the six months ended June 30, 2008 resulted largely from expenses related to performance-based management incentive compensation, consulting fees, corporate office expense related to maintaining our previous corporate headquarters while the property is marketed for sale, increased compensation expense associated with our stock-based awards and dues for memberships in fertilizer industry groups. See "Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates" in this discussion and analysis for additional information concerning assets held for sale.

#### Other Operating Net

Other operating net decreased to \$1.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008 from \$2.0 million for the same period of 2007. The decrease was due primarily to a \$1.4 million gain on the 2008 second quarter sale of property and equipment at our Donaldsonville, Louisiana nitrogen complex.

#### Interest Net

Net interest income increased \$6.2 million to \$14.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008 from \$8.1 million in the same period of 2007. Interest income increased to \$15.1 million in 2008 as compared to \$8.9 million in 2007 due primarily to higher average balances of invested cash.

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

#### Minority Interest

Amounts reported as minority interest represent the interest of the 34% holder of CFL's common and preferred shares. The increase for the six months ended June 30, 2008 was due to improved CFL operating results which reflect improved market conditions for nitrogen fertilizers produced in Canada.

#### Income Taxes

The income tax provisions recorded for the six months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007 were based upon our estimated annual effective tax rate, which includes applicable federal, foreign and state income taxes.

Our income tax provision for the six months ended June 30, 2008 was \$246.7 million, or an effective tax rate of 36.0%. This compared with a tax provision of \$81.1 million on pre-tax earnings for the six months ended June 30, 2007, or an effective tax rate of 35.0%. The 2008 increase in the effective tax rate results principally from a lower expected impact of the U.S. domestic production activities deduction and an expected reduction of the level of non-taxable interest income earned.

## Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliates Net of Taxes

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates net of taxes of \$8.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008 consists of our share of the operating results of Keytrade for the first six months of 2008.

#### Diluted Net Earnings Per Share and Diluted Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding

Diluted net earnings per share increased to \$7.79 per share for the six months ended June 30, 2008 from \$2.67 per share for the comparable period of 2007 due primarily to the increase in net earnings, partially offset by an increase in the diluted weighted average number of shares of outstanding common stock. The increase in the diluted weighted average number of shares of outstanding common stock for the six months ended June 30, 2008 versus the same period of 2007 was due to the impact of stock option exercises and restricted stock grants over the last twelve months.

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

# **Operating Results by Business Segment**

Our business is organized and managed based on two segments, the nitrogen fertilizer business and the phosphate fertilizer business, which are differentiated primarily by their products, the markets they serve and the regulatory environments in which they operate.

#### Nitrogen Fertilizer Business

The following table presents summary operating data for our nitrogen fertilizer business:

	Three months ended June 30, 2008 v.					Six months ended J					lune 30, 2008 v.	
	2008							2008		2007		2007
	(in millions, except as noted)											
Net sales	\$	848.6	\$	671.5	\$	177.1		,286.4		1,022.4	\$	264.0
Cost of sales		486.6		548.7		(62.1)		726.9		808.9		(82.0)
Gross margin	\$	362.0	\$	122.8	\$	239.2	\$	559.5	\$	213.5	\$	346.0
Gloss margin	ψ	502.0	ψ	122.0	Ψ	239.2	ψ	559.5	ψ	215.5	ψ	540.0
Gross margin percentage		42.7%	ว	18.39	6			43.5%	ว	20.9%	ว	
Tons of product sold (in thousands)		2,118		2,237		(119)		3,384		3,666		(282)
Sales volumes by product		2,110		2,237		(11)		5,504		5,000		(202)
(tons in thousands)												
Ammonia		531		679		(148)		606		800		(194)
Urea		804		719		85		1,454		1,385		69
UAN		758		805		(47)		1,297		1,444		(147)
Other nitrogen products		25		34		(9)		27		37		(10)
Average selling price per ton by product	у											
Ammonia	\$	513	\$	390	\$	123	\$	502	\$	376	\$	126
Urea	ψ	417	ψ	331	Ψ	86	ψ	404	ψ	313	ψ	91
UAN		313		206		107		301		197		104
Cost of natural gas (per MMBtu) <sup>(1)</sup>		010		200		107		001		177		101
Donaldsonville	\$	8.83	\$	7.61	\$	1.22	\$	8.62	\$	7.59	\$	1.03
Medicine Hat		8.77		6.52		2.25		8.26		6.43		1.83
Average daily market price of												
natural												
gas (per MMBtu)												
Henry Hub (Louisiana)	\$	11.32	\$	7.53	\$	3.79	\$	9.95	\$	7.33	\$	2.62
AECO (Alberta)		10.10		6.46		3.64		8.97		6.37		2.60
Depreciation and amortization	\$	15.2	\$	12.1	\$	3.1	\$	29.6	\$	24.5	\$	5.1
Capital expenditures	\$	23.1	\$	10.5	\$	12.6	\$	34.1	\$	16.4	\$	17.7
Production volume by product												
(tons in thousands)												
Ammonia <sup>(2)(3)</sup>		813		869		(56)		1,638		1,742		(104)
Granular urea <sup>(2)</sup>		596		629		(33)		1,198		1,255		(57)
UAN (28%)		684		667		17		1,366		1,340		26

(1)

Includes the cost of natural gas purchases and realized gains and losses on natural gas derivatives.

Total production at Donaldsonville and Medicine Hat, including the 34% interest of Westco, our joint venture partner in CFL.

Gross ammonia production, including amounts subsequently upgraded on-site into urea and/or UAN.

(3)

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

Second Quarter of 2008 Compared to the Second Quarter of 2007

*Net Sales.* Nitrogen fertilizer net sales increased \$177.1 million to \$848.6 million in the second quarter of 2008 compared to \$671.5 million in the second quarter of 2007, as higher average selling prices were partially offset by lower sales volume. A tight domestic supply/demand balance and a strong international market caused ammonia prices to increase by 32% for the second quarter of 2008 compared to 2007. Average urea selling prices were 26% higher in the second quarter of 2008 compared to prices in the same period of the prior year due to a strong international market and the impact of an increase in China's urea export tax. Average UAN selling prices were 52% higher due to strong international markets and the effects of an increase in the Chinese export tax on urea. Nitrogen fertilizer sales volume decreased 5% to 2.12 million tons in the second quarter of 2008 compared to 2.24 million tons in the same period of last year. Exceptionally wet spring weather in the Corn Belt and other grain-producing regions caused ammonia sales volume to decline during the second quarter of 2008 compared to the second quarter of 2007. The decrease in UAN sales volume was due primarily to our decision to reduce sales of low-margin purchased UAN. We do not expect this reduction to have a significant impact on our net earnings.

*Cost of Sales.* Total cost of sales of our nitrogen fertilizers averaged approximately \$230 per ton in the second quarter of 2008 compared to \$245 per ton in the second quarter of 2007. The 6% decrease was due primarily to higher unrealized gains from mark-to-market adjustments on natural gas derivatives, partially offset by higher purchased product costs and higher realized natural gas costs. We recognized a net \$83.2 million unrealized mark-to-market gain in the second quarter of 2008 compared to a net \$36.3 million unrealized mark-to-market loss in the same period of 2007. Purchased product costs were approximately \$36.2 million higher in 2008 than in 2007 due to higher fertilizer prices partially offset by a decrease in the amount of sales volume supported by purchased product. The overall weighted average cost of natural gas supplied to our Donaldsonville facility and CFL's Medicine Hat facility, including realized gains and losses on derivatives, increased by 22% in the second quarter of 2008 versus the cost in the comparable period of 2007. High crude oil prices, natural gas production outages and below-average storage inventories helped increase natural gas prices relative to the second quarter of the prior year.

During the second quarter of 2008, we sold approximately 1.5 million tons of nitrogen fertilizers under our Forward Pricing Program, representing approximately 72% of our nitrogen fertilizer sales volume for the quarter. In the comparable period of 2007, we sold approximately 1.6 million tons of nitrogen fertilizers under this program, representing approximately 70% of our nitrogen volume.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2008 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2007

*Net Sales.* Nitrogen fertilizer net sales increased \$264.0 million to \$1.3 billion for the six months ended June 30, 2008 compared to \$1.0 billion for the six months ended June 30, 2007, as higher average selling prices were partially offset by lower sales volume. A tight domestic supply/demand balance and a strong international market caused ammonia prices to increase by 34% for the first six months of 2008 compared to 2007. Average urea selling prices were 29% higher in the first six months of 2008 compared to prices in the same period of the prior year due to strength in the international market. Higher average UAN selling prices reflected the impact of reduced import volume, lower than average producer inventory and stronger conditions in the international market. Nitrogen fertilizer sales volume decreased 8% to 3.38 million tons in the first six months of 2008 compared to 3.67 million tons in the same period of last year. Exceptionally wet spring weather and flooding led to lower pre-plant and side dress applications of ammonia in the Corn Belt and other grain-producing regions. The decision to reduce sales of low-margin purchased UAN was the primary reason for the decline in UAN sales volume.

# CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

*Cost of Sales.* Total cost of sales of our nitrogen fertilizers averaged approximately \$215 per ton for the first six months of 2008 compared to \$221 per ton in the same period of 2007. The 3% decrease was due primarily to higher unrealized gains from mark-to-market adjustments on natural gas derivatives, partially offset by higher purchased product costs and higher realized natural gas costs. We recognized a net \$152.8 million unrealized mark-to-market gain for the first six months of 2008 compared to a net \$2.2 million unrealized mark-to-market gain in the same period of 2007. Purchased product costs were approximately \$57.3 million higher in 2008 than in 2007 due primarily to the higher prices we paid to procure finished fertilizer products for resale. The overall weighted average cost of natural gas supplied to our Donaldsonville facility and CFL's Medicine Hat facility, including realized gains and losses on derivatives, increased by 18% for the first half of 2008 versus the cost in the comparable period of 2007. Cold temperatures in the first quarter of 2008, along with strong crude oil prices throughout the first half of 2008, helped drive natural gas prices higher relative to the prior year.

During the first six months of 2008, we sold approximately 2.5 million tons of nitrogen fertilizers under our Forward Pricing Program, representing approximately 73% of our nitrogen fertilizer sales volume for the period. In the comparable period of 2007, we sold approximately 2.3 million tons of nitrogen fertilizers under this program, representing approximately 63% of our nitrogen volume.

# CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

#### Phosphate Fertilizer Business

The following table presents summary operating data for our phosphate fertilizer business:

	Three months ended June 30, 2008 v.					Six months ended				June 30, 2008 v.		
	20	008	2	2007	2	2007	2	008		2007		2007
	(in millions						except as noted)					
Net sales	\$3	12.4	\$	177.4	\$	135.0	\$5	41.9	\$	298.9	\$	243.0
Cost of sales	2	04.5		122.6		81.9	3	60.3		229.7		130.6
Gross margin	\$1	07.9	\$	54.8	\$	53.1	\$1	81.6	\$	69.2	\$	112.4
Gross margin percentage		34.5%		30.9%				33.5%		23.2%		
Tons of product sold (in thousands)		456		510		(54)		926		971		(45)
Sales volumes by product (tons in thousands)												
DAP		379		406		(27)		763		794		(31)
MAP		77		104		(27)		163		177		(14)
Domestic vs export sales of DAP/MAP												. ,
(tons in thousands)												
Domestic		371		370		1		760		768		(8)
Export		85		140		(55)		166		203		(37)
Average selling price per ton by product												
DAP	\$	696	\$	349	\$	347	\$	594	\$	307	\$	287
MAP		629		341		288		544		312		232
Depreciation, depletion and												
amortization	\$	9.5	\$	7.6	\$	1.9	\$	20.0	\$	14.8	\$	5.2
Capital expenditures	\$	15.3	\$	6.9	\$	8.4	\$	37.6	\$	19.6	\$	18.0
Production volume by product												
(tons in thousands)												
Phosphate rock		947		722		225	1	,853		1,586		267
Sulfuric acid		619		670		(51)	1	,223		1,259		(36)
Phosphoric acid as $P_2O_5^{(1)}$		256		258		(2)		499		483		16
DAP/MAP		523		516		7		996		962		34

(1)

 $P_2O_5$  is the basic measure of the nutrient content in phosphate fertilizer products.

Second Quarter of 2008 Compared to the Second Quarter of 2007

*Net Sales.* Phosphate fertilizer net sales increased 76% to \$312.4 million in the second quarter of 2008 compared to \$177.4 million in the second quarter of 2007, due to higher average selling prices, offset somewhat by lower sales volume. Strong worldwide supply/demand factors led to second quarter 2008 average phosphate fertilizer selling prices nearly doubling from the same quarter of 2007. Worldwide supply was affected by lower production resulting from a lack of sulfur availability, as well an increase in China's tax on phosphate exports. Our total level of phosphate fertilizer sales of 456,000 tons in the second quarter of 2008 was 11% less than in the comparable period in 2007 due to lower export sales.

*Cost of Sales.* Phosphate fertilizer cost of sales averaged \$448 per ton in the second quarter of 2008 compared to \$240 per ton in the same quarter of the prior year. The 87% increase was due mainly to higher sulfur and ammonia costs. Reduced 2008 first quarter supply from domestic refineries

# **CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.**

provided continued strength to the domestic sulfur market, leading to a seven fold increase in average sulfur costs for the second quarter of 2008 versus a year ago. We expect the domestic and international sulfur markets to remain tight for the remainder of 2008 due to strong anticipated demand from phosphate fertilizer and metal producers and continued reduced supply. Both the price and availability of sulfur could negatively impact our future financial results. Ammonia costs were 65% higher in 2008 as compared to 2007 due to a strong international market.

During the second quarter of 2008, we sold approximately 330,000 tons of phosphate fertilizers under our Forward Pricing Program, representing approximately 72% of our phosphate fertilizer sales volume for the quarter. In the comparable period of 2007, we sold approximately 220,000 tons of phosphate fertilizers under this program, representing approximately 43% of our phosphate volume.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2008 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2007

*Net Sales.* Phosphate fertilizer net sales of \$541.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2008 increased by \$243.0 million, or 81%, compared to the same period of 2007, due to higher average selling prices. Strong worldwide supply/demand factors led to a 90% increase in average phosphate fertilizer selling prices during the first half of 2008. Our total level of phosphate fertilizer sales of 926,000 tons for the first half of 2008 was 5% lower than in the comparable period in 2007 due primarily to lower export sales in the second quarter of 2008.

*Cost of Sales.* Phosphate fertilizer cost of sales averaged \$389 per ton for the first six months of 2008 compared to \$237 per ton in the same period of 2007. The 64% increase was due mainly to higher sulfur and ammonia costs, as well as higher cost of product we purchased to supplement production, mainly in the first quarter of 2008. Average sulfur costs for the six months ended June 30, 2008 were approximately six times the cost for 2007 due to continued strong demand for domestic sulfur and the impact of reduced supply from domestic refineries in the first quarter of 2008. Ammonia costs reflected a strong international market, increasing 58% in the first half of 2008 as compared to 2007. Purchased product costs were approximately \$11.2 million higher in 2008 compared to the prior year due to higher phosphate fertilizer prices offset somewhat by a decrease in the amount of sales volume supported by purchased products.

During the first half of 2008, we sold approximately 655,000 tons of phosphate fertilizers under our Forward Pricing Program, representing approximately 71% of our phosphate fertilizer sales volume for the period. In the comparable period of 2007, we sold approximately 408,000 tons of phosphate fertilizers under this program, representing approximately 42% of our phosphate volume.

#### Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary source of cash is cash from operations, which includes customer advances. Our primary uses of cash are operating costs, working capital needs, capital expenditures and dividends. Our working capital requirements are affected by several factors, including demand for our products, selling prices for our products, raw material costs, freight costs and seasonal factors inherent in the business. Under our short-term investment policy, we invest our excess cash balances in several types of securities, including notes and bonds issued by governmental entities or corporations, and money market funds. Securities issued by governmental agencies include those issued directly by the federal government; those issued by state, local or other governmental entities; and those guaranteed by entities affiliated with governmental entities.



# CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

### Cash Balances

As of June 30, 2008, we had cash and cash equivalents of \$805.8 million, short-term investments of \$238.7 million and a \$413.4 million current liability attributable to customer advances related to cash deposits received under our Forward Pricing Program. Short-term investments held at June 30, 2008 consisted of U.S. Treasury Bills with original maturities between three and six months that are reported at fair value. As of December 31, 2007, we had cash and cash equivalents of \$366.5 million, short-term investments of \$494.5 million (auction rate securities as discussed more fully below) and a \$305.8 million current liability attributable to customer advances.

#### Investments in Auction Rate Securities

We held investments in available-for-sale high grade tax-exempt auction rate securities at June 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007. During the second quarter of 2008, \$36.6 million of our auction rate securities were either redeemed by the issuer or sold at par value. Therefore, as of June 30, 2008, our remaining investments were reported at their fair value of \$221.1 million, after reflecting a \$10.8 million unrealized holding loss against a par value of \$231.9 million, and were classified as noncurrent assets. At December 31, 2007, these investments totaled \$494.5 million and were recorded as short-term investments. Auction rate securities are primarily debt instruments with long-term maturities for which interest rates are reset periodically through an auction process, which typically occurs every 7 to 35 days. The auction process results in the interest rate being reset on the underlying securities until the next reset or auction date. A failed auction occurs when there are insufficient bids for the number of instruments being offered. Upon a failed auction, the then present holders of the instruments continue to hold them and the instrument carries an interest rate based upon certain predefined formulas.

The tax-exempt auction rate securities that we hold were issued by various state or local governmental entities and include securities that are supported by student loans that are guaranteed under the Federal Family Education Loan Program. In February 2008, the market for auction rate securities began to show signs of illiquidity as auctions for several securities failed on their scheduled auction dates. Shortly thereafter, liquidity left the market causing the customary auction process to fail. As a result, these are no longer liquid investments and we will not be able to access these funds until such time as auctions of these securities are successful, buyers are found outside of the auction process, and/or the securities are redeemed by the issuer. In accordance with our policies, we review the underlying securities and assess the creditworthiness of these securities as part of our investment process. In each case, our reviews have continued to find these investments to be investment grade.

Due to the illiquidity in the credit markets and the failed auctions that started in February 2008, market valuations are no longer observable and we have classified these investments as Level 3 securities (those measured using significant unobservable inputs) under the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 157 *Fair Value Measurements*. As disclosed in Note 4 to our unaudited consolidated financial statements, SFAS No. 157 requires supplemental disclosures regarding assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis. These investments in auction rate securities represent approximately 35% of the group of assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

We completed a valuation of these investments at June 30, 2008. The valuation of these securities utilizes a mark-to-model approach that relies on discounted cash flows, market data and inputs derived from similar instruments. These models take into account, among other variables, base interest rates, credit spreads, downgrade risks, default/recovery risk, the estimated time required to work out the disruption in the traditional auction process and its effect on liquidity, and the effects of insurance and

# CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

other credit enhancements. Based on this valuation, we reflected a \$10.8 million pre-tax unrealized holding loss against the historical cost basis of these investments for the six months ended June 30, 2008. The unrealized holding loss has been reported in other comprehensive income and the impact of the unrealized holding loss is included in the net \$221.1 million investment balance in auction rate securities. At June 30, 2008, these investments have been classified as noncurrent on our consolidated balance sheet, based on market developments and our judgment regarding the period of time that may elapse until the traditional auction process resumes, or other effective market trading mechanisms develop.

The model we used to value our auction rate securities uses discounted cash flow calculations as one of the significant inputs to the ultimate determination of value. The base interest rates assumed for the required rates of return are key components of the calculation of discounted cash flows. If the required rate of return we used in the calculation model was 100 basis points higher, the resulting holding loss would have been approximately \$6 million greater. We may need to recognize either additional holding gains or losses in other comprehensive income or in net earnings should changes occur in either the conditions in the credit markets or in the variables considered in our valuation model.

We believe we will ultimately recover the historical cost for these instruments as we presently intend to hold these securities until market liquidity returns either through resumption of the auction process or otherwise. We do not believe the current market liquidity issues regarding these securities present any operating liquidity issues for us. Our cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments, operating cash flow, and credit available under our credit facility are adequate to fund our cash requirements for the foreseeable future.

#### Debt

Notes payable, representing amounts owed by CFL to its minority interest holder with respect to advances, were \$4.8 million as of June 30, 2008 compared to \$4.9 million as of December 31, 2007.

There were no outstanding borrowings or letters of credit under our senior secured credit facility (credit facility) as of June 30, 2008 or December 31, 2007. As of June 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, we had \$249.3 million and \$219.8 million available, respectively, under the borrowing formula under our credit facility.



#### CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

### Forward Pricing Program (FPP)

We use our FPP to reduce margin risk created by the volatility of fertilizer prices and natural gas costs. Through the program, we offer our customers the opportunity to purchase product on a forward basis at prices and on delivery dates we propose. As our customers enter into forward nitrogen fertilizer purchase contracts with us, we generally lock in a substantial portion of the margin on these sales mainly by effectively fixing the cost of natural gas, the largest and most volatile component of our manufacturing cost, using natural gas derivative instruments. A significant portion of the sales proceeds from FPP orders are generally collected in advance of shipment, thereby reducing or eliminating the accounts receivable related to such sales. As of June 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, we had approximately \$413.4 million and \$305.8 million, respectively, in customer advances on our consolidated balance sheet. As of June 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, we had approximately 3.2 million tons and 3.0 million tons, respectively, of nitrogen and phosphate product committed to be sold under the FPP. Most of this product was scheduled to ship within the next six months. As of June 30, 2007, we had approximately 2.7 million tons of nitrogen and phosphate product committed to be sold under this program.

While customer advances were a significant source of liquidity in the first six months of both 2008 and 2007, the level of sales under the FPP is affected by many factors, including current market conditions and our customers' perceptions of future market fundamentals. The higher level of sales on order as of June 30, 2008 compared to June 30, 2007 reflects our customers' expectations concerning the fertilizer pricing environment and availability of supply prevalent during that reporting period.

The level of our customers' participation in our FPP may vary over time. If the level of sales under the FPP were to decrease in the future, our cash received from customer advances would likely decrease, and our accounts receivable balances would likely increase. Also, borrowing under our senior secured revolving credit facility could become necessary. Due to the volatility inherent in our business and changing customer expectations, we cannot estimate the amount of future FPP sales activity.

#### Financial Assurance Requirements

In addition to various operational and environmental regulations related to our phosphate fertilizer business, we are subject to financial assurance requirements. Pursuant to the Florida regulations governing financial assurance related to the closure of phosphogypsum stacks, we utilize an escrow account to meet such future obligations. We made annual contributions of \$6.2 million and \$9.4 million in February of 2008 and 2007, respectively, to this escrow account, which by rule is earmarked to cover the closure, long-term maintenance, and monitoring costs for our phosphogypsum stacks, as well as any costs incurred to manage the water contained in the stack system upon closure.

Additionally, Florida regulations require mining companies to demonstrate financial responsibility for reclamation, and for wetland and other surface water mitigation measures. We will also be required to demonstrate financial responsibility for reclamation, and for wetland and other surface water mitigation measures in advance of any mining activities, if and when we are able to expand our Hardee mining activities to areas not currently permitted. The demonstration of financial responsibility by mining companies in Florida may be provided by passing a financial test or by establishing a cash deposit arrangement. Based on these current regulations, we will have the option to demonstrate financial responsibility in Florida utilizing either of these methods.

See Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Liquidity in our 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information on financial assurance requirements.

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

#### Cash Flows

#### **Operating Activities**

Net cash generated from operating activities in the first six months of 2008 was \$516.5 million compared to \$302.2 million in the same period in 2007. The \$214.3 million increase in cash provided by operating activities in 2008 was due primarily to the increase in net earnings and a reduction of \$37.3 million in cash used to support working capital between the periods. The \$37.3 million reduction of cash used to support working capital between the periods. The \$37.3 million reduction of cash used to support working capital is the difference between the \$107.4 million positive impact of changes in working capital in the first half of 2008 and the \$70.1 million positive change in the same period of 2007. During the first six months of 2008, working capital benefited by a \$111.3 million increase in accrued income taxes, a \$107.6 million increase in customer advances and a \$70.5 million increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses, partially offset by a \$137.4 million increase in inventories. The increase in accrued income taxes was due to higher contracted selling prices. Remaining unpaid amounts of customer advances are generally collected by the time the product is shipped. The increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses was due primarily to higher sulfur and natural gas prices. The increase in inventories reflects higher quantities of ammonia and phosphate fertilizers held at June 30, 2008, as well as higher per-unit fertilizer manufacturing costs for all products and increase for purchased product.

#### Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was \$51.4 million for the first six months of 2008 compared to \$253.5 million in the first half of 2007. The \$202.1 million decrease in cash used in investing activities was due primarily to the net sale of investment securities of \$23.9 million during the first six months of 2008 as compared to \$205.9 million of net purchases of investment securities during the same period of 2007. The proceeds from the sales of investment securities in 2008 were generally invested in cash equivalents. During the second quarter of 2008, we purchased \$238.7 million of U.S. Treasury Bills with original maturity dates between three and six months that were classified as short-term investments. See the "Liquidity and Capital Resources" section of this discussion and analysis for additional information concerning investment securities. The \$33.3 million increase in additions to property, plant and equipment in the first six months of 2008 was due to higher spending on capital projects and plant turnaround-related expenditures. As previously discussed, we made annual contributions of \$6.2 million in February of 2007 to our asset retirement obligation escrow account. The balance in this account is reported at fair value on our consolidated balance sheet.

#### Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities was \$25.5 million in the first six months of 2008 compared to net cash used in financing activities of \$20.8 million for the same period of 2007. The \$4.7 million increase in cash used in financing activities was due primarily to the impact of higher dividends paid on common stock, partially offset by the net activity related to stock-based compensation. In the first quarter of 2008, the quarterly dividend increased to \$0.10 per common share from \$0.02 per common share. Distributions to minority interest in 2008 represent one-half of CFL's 2007 net earnings, whereas all of CFL's 2006 net earnings were distributed by June 30, 2007.

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

#### **Contractual Obligations**

The following is a summary of our contractual obligations as of June 30, 2008:

	Remainde		Payments Due by Period					
	of 2008	r 2009	2010	2011	2012	After 2012	Total	
			(in	million	s)			
Contractual Obligations								
Debt								
Long-term debt <sup>(1)</sup>	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	
Notes payable <sup>(2)</sup>		4.8					4.8	
Interest payments on long-term debt and								
notes payable <sup>(1)</sup>	0.1	0.2					0.3	
Other Obligations								
Operating leases	16.2	29.3	25.0	9.1	5.4	8.4	93.4	
Equipment purchases and plant								
improvements	24.0	6.4	16.3	7.7			54.4	
Transportation <sup>(3)</sup>	47.0	83.5	40.5	16.2	16.9	217.8	421.9	
Purchase obligations <sup>(4)(5)(6)</sup>	486.0	301.8	213.7	9.0	1.6	3.6	1,015.7	
Keytrade Commercial Agreement <sup>(7)</sup>	1.4	2.8	2.8	2.8	2.1		11.9	
Contributions to pension plans <sup>(8)</sup>	8.0						8.0	
Total <sup>(9)</sup>	\$ 582.7	\$428.8	\$298.3	\$44.8	\$26.0	\$229.8	\$1,610.4	

(1)

Interest amounts are based on debt balances and interest rates as of June 30, 2008. All our long-term debt was repaid on August 17, 2005.

Represents notes payable to the CFL minority interest holder. While the entire principal amount is due December 31, 2009, CFL may prepay all or a portion of the principal at its sole option.

(3)

(4)

(5)

(2)

Includes anticipated expenditures under certain requirements contracts to transport raw materials and finished product between our facilities. The majority of these arrangements allow for reductions in usage based on our actual operating rates. Amounts set forth above are based on projected normal operating rates and contracted or current spot prices, where applicable, as of June 30, 2008 and actual operating rates and prices may differ.

Includes minimum commitments to purchase natural gas based on prevailing NYMEX and AECO forward prices at June 30, 2008. Also includes minimum commitments to purchase ammonia, urea and UAN for resale and commitments to purchase ammonia and sulfur for use in phosphate fertilizer production. The amounts set forth above for these commitments are based on spot prices as of June 30, 2008 and actual prices may differ.

- Liquid markets exist for the possible resale of the natural gas, ammonia, urea and UAN purchased for resale and ammonia and sulfur purchased for use in phosphate fertilizer production under most of these commitments, but gains or losses could be incurred on resale.
- <sup>(6)</sup> Purchase obligations do not include any amounts related to our financial hedges (i.e., swaps) associated with the hedging of natural gas purchases.
- (7) Represents the minimum contractual commitment to Keytrade for handling UAN import and phosphate export transactions per the terms of a commercial agreement we have with Keytrade.

# CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

#### (8)

Represents the contributions we expect to make to our pension plans in 2008. Our pension funding policy is to contribute amounts sufficient to meet minimum legal funding requirements plus discretionary amounts that we may deem to be appropriate.

#### (9)

Excludes \$0.2 million of unrecognized tax benefits due to the uncertainty in the timing of payments, if any, on these items. See Note 11 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K, for further discussion of these unrecognized tax benefits.

#### **Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements**

We have operating leases for certain property and equipment under various noncancelable agreements, the most significant of which are rail car leases and barge tow charters for the transportation of fertilizer, and a corporate office lease. The rail car leases currently have minimum terms ranging from one to five years and the barge charter commitments currently have terms ranging from one to three years. We also have terminal and warehouse storage agreements at several of our distribution locations, some of which contain minimum throughput requirements. The storage agreements contain minimum terms ranging from one to three years and commonly contain automatic annual renewal provisions thereafter unless canceled by either party. See Note 23 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in our 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K, for additional information concerning leases.

We do not have any other off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a material current or future effect on our financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

# **Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates**

We describe our significant accounting policies and estimates in Note 2 to our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes included in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of our 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K. We discuss our critical accounting estimates in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in our 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K. The following discussion presents information concerning changes to that discussion that occurred during the second quarter of 2008.

#### Assets Held for Sale

In 2006, we decided to sell our corporate office facility located in Long Grove, Illinois and in 2007 we relocated our corporate headquarters to Deerfield, Illinois. As of December 31, 2007, the net book value of the Long Grove building and related land (\$6.7 million) was classified as assets held for sale. The Long Grove facility consisted of an office building and a parcel of excess land. In the first quarter of 2008, due to a decline in the real estate market and a deteriorating credit market, negotiations with potential buyers of the building stalled, and we no longer considered it probable that it would be sold within one year. As a result, as of March 31, 2008, we reclassified the carrying value of the building (\$6.1 million) back to property, plant and equipment and recognized \$0.4 million in the first quarter of 2008 for the associated depreciation for the period of time it was classified as held for sale and reinitiated depreciation. We sold the excess land in July of 2008 and we expect to recognize a pre-tax gain of approximately \$4 million in the third quarter of 2008. See Note 10 to our unaudited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-Q for additional discussion concerning assets held for sale.

## CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

#### Fair Value Measurements

We adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 157 *Fair Value Measurements*, as of January 1, 2008. We have classified our investments in auction rate securities as Level 3 securities (those measured using significant unobservable inputs) under the provisions of SFAS No. 157. See the "Liquidity and Capital Resources" section of this discussion and analysis for detailed information concerning the critical accounting estimates involved in valuing and classifying these investments. No other assets or liabilities are classified as Level 3 items in our consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2008. See Note 4 to our unaudited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-Q for additional information concerning fair value measurements.

#### **Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

Following are summaries of accounting pronouncements that were either recently adopted or may become applicable to our consolidated financial statements.

#### Recently adopted pronouncements

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 157 *Fair Value Measurements* and Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Staff Position (FSP) No. 157-2 *Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157*. SFAS No. 157 does not require any new fair value measurements, but does define fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. FSP No. 157-2 delays for one year the effective date of SFAS No. 157 for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. The deferral is intended to allow the FASB and constituents additional time to consider the effect of various implementation issues that have arisen, or that may arise, from the application of SFAS No. 157. Examples of items for which the deferral applies include asset retirement obligations, certain long-lived assets for an impairment assessment, certain assets and liabilities in a business combination, and certain liabilities involved with exit or disposal activities. As of January 1, 2008, we adopted SFAS No. 157 and the partial deferral guidance in FSP No. 157-2. See Note 4 to our unaudited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-Q for additional information concerning fair value measurements.

#### Recently issued pronouncements

SFAS No. 141 (Revised 2007) *Business Combinations*. This Statement applies to business combinations other than joint ventures, asset acquisitions, businesses under common control and not-for-profit organizations. It requires the acquirer to recognize the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, contractual contingencies, and contingent consideration at their fair values as of the acquisition date. This Statement also requires acquisition costs to be expensed as incurred, restructuring costs to be expensed in the period subsequent to the acquisition date, and changes in deferred tax asset valuation allowances and income tax uncertainties after the acquisition date to impact tax expense. This Statement also requires the acquirer in an acquisition implemented in stages to recognize the identifiable assets and liabilities, as well as the noncontrolling interest in the acquiree, at the full amounts of their fair values. This Statement is effective for us for business combinations with an acquisition date after December 31, 2008.

SFAS No. 160 Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements an amendment of Accounting Research Bulletin (ARB) No. 51. This Statement establishes new accounting and

### CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. It requires the recognition of a noncontrolling interest (minority interest) as equity in the consolidated financial statements and separate from the parent's equity. The amount of net income attributable to the noncontrolling interest will be included in consolidated net income on the face of the income statement. The Statement clarifies that changes in a parent's ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in deconsolidation are equity transactions if the parent retains its controlling financial interest. In addition, this Statement requires that a parent recognize a gain or loss in net income when a subsidiary is deconsolidated. Such gain or loss will be measured using the fair value of the noncontrolling equity investment on the deconsolidation date. The Statement also includes expanded disclosure requirements regarding the interests of the parent and its noncontrolling interest. The Statement is effective for us beginning January 1, 2009. We have not yet determined the impact of this Statement on our consolidated financial statements.

SFAS No. 161 *Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133.* This Statement enhances the disclosure requirements for derivative instruments and hedging activities and requires that an entity disclose how derivative instruments are used, how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for under SFAS No. 133 and its related interpretations, and how the derivative instruments and hedged items affect an entity's financial position, financial performance, and related cash flows. The Statement is effective for us beginning January 1, 2009. We do not expect this Statement to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and disclosures.

FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. EITF 03-6-1 Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions Are Participating Securities. This FSP applies to the calculation of earnings per share (EPS) under SFAS No. 128 for share based payment awards with rights to dividends or dividend equivalents. Unvested share-based payment awards that contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents (whether paid or unpaid) are participating securities and should be included in the computation of EPS pursuant to the two-class method. This FSP is effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2009 with retrospective adjustment to previously reported EPS data for comparative purposes. We have not yet determined the impact of this FSP on our consolidated financial statements.

SFAS No. 162 *The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles*. This Statement identifies the sources of accounting principles and the framework for selecting principles to be used in the preparation and presentation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. This statement will be effective 60 days after the Securities and Exchange Commission approves the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board's amendments to AU Section 411, *The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting Principles*. We do not expect this Statement to have an impact on our consolidated financial statements.

# CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

### FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements that are not statements of historical fact and may involve a number of risks and uncertainties. These statements relate to analyses and other information that are based on forecasts of future results and estimates of amounts not yet determinable. These statements may also relate to our future prospects, developments and business strategies. We have used the words "anticipate," "believe," "could," "estimate," "expect," "intend," "may," "plan," "predict," "project," and similar terms and phrases, including references to assumptions, to identify forward-looking statements in this Form 10-Q. These forward-looking statements are made based on our expectations and beliefs concerning future events affecting us and are subject to uncertainties and factors relating to our operations and business environment, all of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond our control, that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those matters expressed in or implied by these forward-looking statements. We do not undertake any responsibility to release publicly any revisions to these forward-looking statements to take into account events or circumstances that occur after the date of this report. Additionally, we do not undertake any responsibility to provide updates regarding the occurrence of any unanticipated events which may cause actual results to differ from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in this report.

Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations are disclosed under "Risk Factors" and elsewhere in our 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Such factors include, among others:

the relatively expensive and volatile cost of North American natural gas;

the cyclical nature of our business and the agricultural sector;

changes in global fertilizer supply and demand and its impact on the selling price of our products;

the nature of our products as global commodities;

intense global competition in the consolidating markets in which we operate;

conditions in the U.S. agricultural industry;

weather conditions;

our inability to accurately predict seasonal demand for our products;

the concentration of our sales with certain large customers;

the impact of changing market conditions on our Forward Pricing Program;

the reliance of our operations on a limited number of key facilities;

the significant risks and hazards against which we may not be fully insured;

reliance on third party transportation providers;

# Edgar Filing: CF Industries Holdings, Inc. - Form 10-Q

unanticipated adverse consequences related to the expansion of our business;

our inability to expand our business, including the significant resources that could be required;

potential liabilities and expenditures related to environmental and health and safety laws and regulations;

our inability to obtain or maintain required permits and governmental approvals;

acts of terrorism;

difficulties in securing the supply and delivery of raw materials we use and increases in their costs;

losses on our investments in securities; and

loss of key members of management and professional staff.

# CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

#### ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

We are exposed to the impact of changes in the valuation of our investments, interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and commodity prices. See Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk in our 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information on market risk.

#### Investments in Auction Rate Securities

As of June 30, 2008, we had \$221.1 million of investments in auction rate securities consisting primarily of available-for-sale tax exempt auction rate securities issued by various state and local governmental entities, including securities that are backed by student loans that are guaranteed under the Federal Family Education Loan Program. Due to the illiquidity in the credit markets, auctions for these securities have failed. As a result, these investments are no longer liquid investments and we will not be able to access these funds until such time as auctions of these securities are successful, buyers are found outside of the auction process, and/or the securities are redeemed by the issuer. Further details regarding these securities are included in Note 4 and Note 8 to the unaudited consolidated financial statements and in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Liquidity and Capital Resources, both in this Form 10-Q.

The valuation of these securities utilizes a mark-to-model approach that relies on discounted cash flows, market data and inputs that are derived from similar instruments. Based on this valuation, we reflected a \$10.8 million pre-tax unrealized holding loss against the historical cost basis of these investments as of June 30, 2008. The unrealized holding loss has been reported in other comprehensive income and the impact of the unrealized holding loss is recorded in the net \$221.1 million investment balance in auction rate securities. If the required rate of return we used in the calculation model was 100 basis points higher, the resulting holding loss would have been approximately \$6 million higher. We may need to recognize either additional holding gains or losses in other comprehensive income or in net earnings should changes occur in either the conditions in the credit markets or in the variables considered in our valuation model.

Upon a failed auction, the instrument carries an interest rate based upon certain predefined formulas. A 100 basis point change in the average rate of interest earned on these investments would result in a \$2.3 million change in pre-tax income on an annual basis.

#### Interest Rate Fluctuations

As of June 30, 2008, we had notes payable of approximately \$4.8 million that had a floating interest rate. A 100 basis point change in interest rates on our notes payable would result in a \$48,000 change in pre-tax income on an annual basis. The senior secured revolving credit facility bears a current market rate for interest such that we are subject to interest rate risk on borrowings under this facility. As of June 30, 2008, there were no loans outstanding under this credit facility.

As of June 30, 2008 we had short-term investments of \$238.7 million consisting primarily of available for sale U.S. Treasury Bills with original maturity dates between three and six months. A 100 basis point change in the average rate of interest earned on these short-term investments would result in a \$2.4 million change in pre-tax income on an annual basis. Our advances to unconsolidated affiliates consisted of floating rate subordinated debt owed to us by Keytrade totaling 15.0 million Swiss Francs (CHF) (\$17.0 million) as of June 30, 2008. A 100 basis point change in interest rates on this subordinated debt would result in \$170,000 change in pre-tax earnings on an annual basis assuming the exchange rate at June 30, 2008.

# CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

#### Foreign Currency Exchange Rates

We are exposed to changes in the value of the Canadian dollar as a result of our 66% economic interest and our 49% common equity interest in CFL and to changes in the value of the Swiss Franc as a result of our 50% common equity interest in Keytrade. We have made advances to CFL and Keytrade of \$9.6 million Canadian Dollars and \$15.0 million CHF, respectively. At the present time, we do not maintain any exchange rate derivatives or hedges related to CFL or Keytrade.

#### Commodity Prices

We manage the risk of changes in natural gas prices through the use of physical gas supply contracts and derivative financial instruments covering periods not exceeding three years. Derivatives are carried at their fair value on the balance sheet and changes in their fair value are recognized in operations as they occur. As of June 30, 2008, 48.3 million MMBtus of natural gas were hedged, all of which related to sales contracted to be sold through our Forward Pricing Program. An overall \$1.00 per MMBtu change in the forward curve prices of natural gas would change the pre-tax unrealized mark-to-market gain/loss on these derivative positions by \$48.3 million. All of the 39.1 million MMBtus of natural gas hedged as of December 31, 2007 was related to sales contracted to be sold through our Forward Pricing Program.

# CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

## ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures. The Company's management, with the participation of the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act)) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on such evaluation, the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the end of such period, the Company's disclosure controls and procedures are effective in (i) recording, processing, summarizing and reporting, on a timely basis, information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act and (ii) ensuring that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act and communicated to the Company's management, including the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

(b) Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. There have not been any changes in the Company's internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended June 30, 2008 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

# CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

#### PART II OTHER INFORMATION

#### ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.

Our 2008 annual meeting of stockholders was held on May 13, 2008, for the purpose of (1) electing three members of the board of directors to serve until the 2011 annual meeting of stockholders and (2) ratifying the selection of KPMG LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2008.

At the meeting, the following persons were elected to the board of directors, each for a term to expire at the 2011 annual meeting of stockholders:

	Number of Votes					
Nominee	For	Withheld				
Wallace W. Creek	46,638,405	2,875,380				
William Davisson	42,571,209	6,942,576				
Stephen R. Wilson	44,038,022	5,475,763				

The stockholders ratified the appointment of KPMG LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the year 2008 with 49,012,492 votes cast for ratification, 471,267 votes cast against ratification and 30,026 abstentions.

# ITEM 6. EXHIBITS.

A list of exhibits filed with this report on Form 10-Q (or incorporated by reference to exhibits previously filed or furnished) is provided in the Exhibit Index on page 49 of this report.

# CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

# SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

48

(Principal Financial Officer)

	CF It	ndustries Holdings, Inc.
Date: August 4, 2008	By:	/s/ STEPHEN R. WILSON
		Stephen R. Wilson President and Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the Board (Principal Executive Officer)
Date: August 4, 2008	By:	/s/ ANTHONY J. NOCCHIERO
		Anthony J. Nocchiero Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

# CF INDUSTRIES HOLDINGS, INC.

## EXHIBIT INDEX

## Exhibit No.

#### Description

- 31.1 Certification of CEO pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
- 31.2 Certification of CFO pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
- 32.1 Certification of CEO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002.
- 32.2 Certification of CFO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002.